## University of New Hampshire University of New Hampshire Scholars' Repository

Master's Theses and Capstones

Student Scholarship

Spring 2023

# Gli3 Is Required for M2 Macrophage Polarization and M2-Mediated Waldenström Macroglobulinemia Growth and Survival

Ava J. Boutilier University of New Hampshire, Durham

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholars.unh.edu/thesis

#### **Recommended Citation**

Boutilier, Ava J., "Gli3 Is Required for M2 Macrophage Polarization and M2-Mediated Waldenström Macroglobulinemia Growth and Survival" (2023). *Master's Theses and Capstones*. 1696. https://scholars.unh.edu/thesis/1696

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Student Scholarship at University of New Hampshire Scholars' Repository. It has been accepted for inclusion in Master's Theses and Capstones by an authorized administrator of University of New Hampshire Scholars' Repository. For more information, please contact Scholarly.Communication@unh.edu.

Gli3 Is Required for M2 Macrophage Polarization and M2-Mediated Waldenström

Macroglobulinemia Growth and Survival

By

Ava J. Boutilier

B.Sc. Biomedical Sciences, University of New Hampshire, 2020

## THESIS

Submitted to the University of New Hampshire

in Partial Fulfillment of

the Requirements for the Degree of

Master of Science

in

Biochemistry

May, 2023

This thesis was examined and approved in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science in Biochemistry by:

Thesis director: Sherine Elsawa, Associate Professor (Molecular Cellular & Biomedical Sciences)

Xuanmao Chen, Associate Professor (Molecular Cellular & Biomedical Sciences)

Sarah Walker, Associate Professor (Molecular Cellular & Biomedical Sciences)

On February 16th, 2023

Approval signatures are on file with the University of New Hampshire Graduate School.

## **IACUC Permission:**

IACUC #: 200801 and 200507

## **Table of Contents**

Abstract/Summary	v
Introduction/Prior Research	
Macrophage Markers	
Human Macrophage Markers	
Mouse Macrophage Markers	
Macrophage Polarization	5
M1 and M2 Macrophages	6
Extrinsic Polarization	
Hypoxia-Induced Polarization	
Intrinsic Polarization	
Influence of the Tumor Microenvironment on Macrophage Polarization	
Pro-Tumorigenic Outcomes	14
Immune Suppression	
Proliferation	
Lymphangiogenesis, Angiogenesis, and Metastasis	
Proposed therapies to treat macrophage polarization	21
Waldenström macroglobulinemia	23
Tumor Microenvironment in WM	
Mechanisms of Disease Progression in WM	
Proliferation	
Survival	
Angiogenesis	
Нурохіа	
Epithelial-Mesenchymal Transition	
Metastasis	
GLI3	
Aethods	
Cell lines and human monocytes	
Mouse bone marrow derived macrophages (BMDMs)	
Monocyte differentiation	37
Macrophage polarization	37
RNA isolation and RT-qPCR	38
Reagents and recombinant proteins	40
Cell viability and proliferation assay	40
Statistical analysis	41
Results	42

	Co-culture of THP-1-derived-M0 and M2 macrophages and WM cells increased the proliferation and viability of WM cells42
	Co-culture of CD14 <sup>+</sup> -human peripheral blood-derived-M0 and M2 macrophages increased the proliferation and viability of WM cells
	Co-culture with mouse bone marrow-derived- macrophages (BMDMs) increased the viability of WM cells
	WM cells modulate macrophage polarization toward M2 phenotype47
	Indirect co-culture does not induce the polarization of macrophages48
	Gli3 is required for increased proliferation from direct co-culture of M0 macrophages and WM cells
D	iscussion53

## Abstract/Summary

The macrophage polarization paradigm has become at the forefront of cancer research in recent years; however, the effects of this phenomenon have yet to be investigated in Waldenström Macroglobulinemia (WM). WM is an indolent, B-cell lymphoma, characterized by increased IgM production and infiltration of the bone marrow niche by malignant cells. Macrophages may polarize to one of 2 phenotypes: M1, which is inflammatory or M2, which is inhibitory. While macrophage polarization is typically investigated as a singular point in time, it is important to understand that M2-type macrophages can switch to an M1 phenotype, or vice versa, based on environmental changes. M1 macrophages are typically pro-inflammatory and generally have an anti-tumor role (although some cancers have reported an increased presence of M1 macrophages leading to worse clinical outcomes), while M2 macrophages are typically anti-inflammatory and have a pro-tumorigenic role. Understanding which phenotype is prevalent in WM, as well as the mechanism behind the increased tumorigenesis is important for guiding WM research and future therapies.

To assess the effects of macrophages on WM cell proliferation, we examined the effects of macrophage polarization using THP-1 cells, CD14<sup>+</sup>-derived macrophages from peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) and bone marrow-derived macrophages (BMDM) from C57BL/6 mice on WM cell growth and viability. WM cells grown in direct co-culture with macrophages exhibited increased proliferation compared to WM cells grown alone. WM cell viability was also enhanced when cells were directly co-cultured with macrophages. To investigate whether M1 or M2 macrophages were responsible for this increased proliferation and viability, we performed a qPCR analysis of macrophages in indirect and direct co-culture with WM cells. We found that WM cells induce a M2 phenotype upon direct co-culture, but this

vi

effect was not seen in indirect co-cultures. Additionally, upon the polarization of macrophages towards an M2 phenotype, we observed that the expression of transcription factor GLI3 was increased, indicating a role for GLI3 in macrophages polarization. In previous work, we found that the transcription factor GLI3 plays a role in regulating cytokine expression and secretion in response to LPS stimulation. In previous work, we performed RNA-seq on macrophages derived from mice lacking Gli3 in myeloid cells (*M-Gli3<sup>-/-</sup>*) stimulated with or without LPS. Using a generalized linear model in edgeR, we identified 495 genes with significant interaction effects between genotype and LPS treatment. Ingenuity Pathway Analysis of the interaction genes revealed "Inflammatory Response" and "Immune Cell Trafficking" pathways as most significantly enriched. The 25 significant interaction genes on these pathways included 9 with a positive interaction and 16 with a negative interaction. Analysis also suggested Gli3 may play a role in M2 macrophage polarization. Bone marrow-derived macrophages were isolated from M-Gli3<sup>-/-</sup> and WT mice and were cocultured with WM cells. We found that M-Gli3<sup>-/-</sup> macrophages could not increase the proliferation and viability of WM cells cocultured with these macrophages.

Our findings identify a novel role for Gli3 in regulating M2 polarization and subsequently a role for M0 and M2 macrophages, but not M1, in promoting WM cell growth and survival. Taken together, these results suggest that therapeutic targeting of Gli3 in the tumor microenvironment may be beneficial in the treatment of WM.

## **Introduction/Prior Research**

Macrophages are myeloid cells that are essential members of the innate immune response [1]. These heterogenous cells originate from monocyte precursors in the blood and differentiate in the presence of cytokines and growth factors in the tissues they infiltrate [2,3]. Macrophages are found in every human tissue in the body and exhibit anatomical and functional diversity [4]. These cells have three key functions: phagocytosis, exogenous antigen presentation, and immunomodulation through cytokine and growth factor secretion. As one of the earliest immune cells to encounter antigens at the site of infection or injury, their response is critical to the remainder of the immune response. Antigen presentation, the ability to phagocytose, digest, and present antigen through the major histocompatibility complex class II (MHC II) system, is crucial for the activation of the adaptive immune system and highlights one of the key roles that macrophages play in the immune response [5]. T-cells (specifically T-helper cells) can recognize these MHC II complexes on classically activated macrophages through their T-cell receptors (TCRs), leading to further activation of the adaptive immune response [5]. Through phagocytosis, macrophages are also able to assist in the resolution of inflammation by effectively eliminating pathogen materials as well as assist in the clearance of apoptotic host cells such as neutrophils [6]. Without macrophages at the site of infection/tissue damage, an elevated apoptotic neutrophil population and elevated and prolonged inflammation has been demonstrated [7]. Macrophages are not only responsible for phagocytosis of foreign antigen; they also coordinate processes that initiate new tissue formation of the extracellular matrix and new blood vessel formation through angiogenesis under normal physiological conditions [4,8]. Macrophages, therefore, play a key role in tissue homeostasis under normal physiological conditions as well as after tissue damage. Macrophages also make key hematopoietic decisions

by engulfing cells exuded from the bone marrow that do not express the CD47 ligand [9]. Macrophages engulf dead cells after infection or injury through recognition of the phosphatidylserine that is externalized on apoptotic cells. Phosphatidylserine is typically confined to the inner plasma membrane, but during apoptosis, it becomes externalized on the cell surface [10]. The engulfment of neutrophils and erythrocytes in the spleen and liver resolves the problems of neutropenia, splenomegaly, and reduced body weight [6].

Macrophages also regulate angiogenesis through different mechanisms. Macrophages can identify vascular endothelial cells and instruct them to undergo apoptosis if they do not receive countersignals from pericytes to survive. Macrophages have been shown to instruct functional angiogenesis in normal vessel maturation [11], wound healing [12], and development [13] and non-functional angiogenesis in many types of cancer [14] and chronic inflammatory conditions [15]. The protein, Wingless-Type MMTV Integration Site Family Member 7B (WNT7B), is secreted by macrophages and triggers apoptosis of vascular endothelial cells and, in the absence of WNT7B-secreting macrophages, there is significant vascular overgrowth. WNT7B secretion by macrophages is triggered by the presence of ANG2 secreted by mature blood vessels [13]. ANG2 secretion by blood vessels causes macrophages to upregulate WNT7B, which induces the proliferation of vascular endothelial cells and allows them to be targeted by ANG-2-induced apoptosis [13]. In response to Wnt7b, vascular endothelial cells enter the cell cycle and die in the G1 phase due to ANG2-mediated withdrawal of survival signals [16]. To induce angiogenesis, macrophages secrete WNT11 and WNT5A, which induce the expression of soluble vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) receptor 1 (VEGFR1) in an autocrine fashion. Soluble VEGFR1 regulates the levels of VEGF so vascular complexity is reduced, and the vasculature is more properly organized [17]. Wnt5a and Wnt11 are associated with non-canonical Wnt

signaling. In a study of angiogenesis regulation by the non-canonical Wnt–Flt1 pathway, soluble and membrane-tethered VEGFR1 was measured by quantitative PCR in the RAW264.7 myeloid cell line after Wnt treatment, and both soluble and membrane-tethered VEGFR1 expression were significantly increased after RAW264.7 treatment with Wnt5a [17]. Macrophages are not limited to just blood vessel formation, but also play a key role in lymphangiogenesis during development and inflammation [18]. Macrophages can promote lymphangiogenesis by transdifferentiating into lymphatic endothelial cells and becoming incorporated into growing lymphatic vessels or by secreting growth factors and proteases that lead to lymphatic vessel formation [18]. Lymphangiogenesis can lead to tumor metastasis [19], making the role of macrophage regulation important to understand and further investigate.

## Macrophage Markers

Regardless of origin, the major lineage regulator of almost all macrophages is the macrophage colony-stimulating factor 1 receptor in both humans (CSF1R) and mice (Csf1r). This is a class III, transmembrane tyrosine kinase receptor that is expressed on most mononuclear phagocytic cells [4]. While CSF1R/Csf1r is important in macrophage differentiation, Csf1r<sup>-/-</sup> mice have still exhibited some tissue macrophages, indicating the importance of other macrophage growth factors such as granulocyte–macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF) and IL-3, which act as macrophage growth factors in tissue culture [4]. Macrophages also constitutively express the surface marker F4/80 in mice [4,13] and the equivalent constitutive markers CD14 and CD68 in humans [20–23].

## Human Macrophage Markers

In humans, M1 macrophages are typically identified by the surface markers CD86 and CD64 [23,24]; the macrophage receptor with collagenous structure MARCO [23,25,26]; C-X-C chemokine ligand (CXCL) 9, 10, 11 (CXCL9, 10, 11) [23]; nitric oxide synthase 2 (NOS2) [27], the suppressor of cytokine signaling 1 (SOCS1) [27]; and secretion of IL-6, IL-12, IL-1 $\alpha$  [27], and TNF- $\alpha$  [24]. M2 macrophages typically express the surface markers CD206 [23–25,28,29] and CD163 [23,29] and express/secrete transforming growth factor-beta (TGF- $\beta$ ), peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma (PPAR $\gamma$ ), C-C motif chemokine ligands 14 and 22 (CCL14 and CCL22) [28], and arginase-1 (ARG-1) (Table 1) [18,22].

## Mouse Macrophage Markers

While most macrophage markers are the same in both humans and mice, some exceptions exist. Murine M1 macrophages express macrophage receptors with collagenous structures (Marco) [23,25,26], Cxcl9, Cxcl10, Cxcl11 [23], Nos2, and Socs1, and secrete II-6, II-12, II-1 $\alpha$  [27], and Tnf- $\alpha$  [24], all comparable to their human counterparts. Murine M1 macrophages do not express surface markers CD86 or CD64. Murine M2 macrophages typically express the surface markers Cd206 [17–19,21,22] and Cd163 [23,29] and express/secrete Tgf- $\beta$ , Ppar $\gamma$ , Ccl14 and Ccl22 [28], and Arg-1 [24,29], similar to human M2 macrophages (Table 1) [29].

Species	<b>M0</b>	M1	M2
	Csf1r, F4/80, CD11b	Marao Cyclo Cyclin Cyclin	Cd206, Tgm2, Fizz1,
Mouse		Nos2, Socs1	Chil3, Arg1, Ccl22,
			Cd163, Arg2
	CSF1R, CD14, CD68,	CD86, MARCO, CXCL9,	TGM2, CD23, ARG1,
Uumon			CCL22, CD163,
Human	CD11B	SOCS1 CD64	CD206, ARG2, PPARy,
		50C51, CD04	CCL14

Table 1. Macrophage polarization markers on M0, M1, and M2 mouse and human macrophages.

Macrophage Polarization

Many phenotypes of macrophages have been characterized based on their in vitro characteristics in cell culture experiments. Primarily, the classically activated M1 phenotype and the alternatively activated M2 phenotype are differentiated based on different surface receptor expression, secretory profiles, and functions [4,30]. Recent studies of gene expression of in vivo wound healing have shown that macrophages exhibit a pro-inflammatory M1 secretory profile during the early stages and then transition to an anti-inflammatory M2 gene expression profile during the later healing stages [31]. Macrophage polarization refers to the activation state of a macrophage at a singular point in time, but due to the plasticity of macrophages, their polarization state is not fixed and can be altered based on the integration of multiple signals from other cells, tissues, and pathogens [32]. While macrophage polarization is typically discussed as a singular point in time, it is important to understand that M2-type macrophages can switch to an M1 phenotype, or vice versa, based on environmental changes such as cytokine and growth factor secretion, inflammation, infection, injury, hypoxia, and other conditions. Macrophage polarization is more complex than the M1 and M2 binary classification, with those subtypes representing the extremes on the spectrum of macrophage polarization (Figure 1). Many of these subsets express combinations of M1 and M2 cell markers and have yet to be formally defined.



**Figure 1.** Macrophage polarization gradient. This figure illustrates the heterogeneity of macrophage polarization in place of binary M1/M2 classifications. The pro-inflammatory M1 and anti-inflammatory M2 cells lie on opposite ends of the polarization axis, but many macrophages with mixed pro- and anti-inflammatory characteristics exist in between. Environmental changes may cause macrophages to shift from M1 to M2, vice versa, or to a hybrid of both cells. This highlights the plasticity of macrophages and interdependence on the surrounding environment. This figure was created with Biorender.com.

## M1 and M2 Macrophages

M1 macrophages are pro-inflammatory in nature and are characterized by their high capacity to present antigens, produce interleukin 12 and 23 (IL-12 and IL-23) [33], and activate type-I T-cell responses [5]. They inhibit cell proliferation and cause tissue damage through the secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines and nitric oxide (NO) and are induced by T-helper type-1 cytokines including interferon- $\gamma$  (IFN- $\gamma$ ), interleukin-1 $\beta$  (IL-1 $\beta$ ), and lipopolysaccharide (LPS) [1,3,4,34]. M2 macrophages are typically anti-inflammatory in nature and are characterized by their poor ability to present antigen; having low IL-12 and high IL-10, IL-4, and IL-13 secretory profiles; and immunosuppressive effects [5]. These cells promote cell proliferation, tissue repair, angiogenesis, and phagocytosis to downregulate inflammation and "clean up" after inflammatory events and are T-helper type-2 activators and TH1 inhibitors [1,3–5,34]. While macrophage polarization is often defined as a specific moment in time, it is important to note that these markers are often present on many subtypes of macrophages in varying expression levels. For example, M2 macrophages can still express M1 markers but with lower levels than M1 macrophages, and vice versa [35].

## Extrinsic Polarization

Extrinsic polarization is a primary method of macrophage polarization and is mediated by cytokine secretion by other cells such as CD4+ TH1 or TH2 cells (Table 2). Some non-cytokine, extrinsic pathways of macrophage polarization do exist, however, including hypoxia as well as the production of lactate within tumors, which drive M2 polarization [36].

Table 2.	Overview	of extrinsic	mechanisms	of macrop	hage	polarization.

Protein/Gene	Normal Function	Effect on Polarization
Interleukin-4 and Interleukin-13	Cytokines	M2-favored
Interleukin-4 receptor alpha	IL-4 and IL-13 signaling	M2-favored
Signal transducer and activator of transcription 6	Transcription factor	M2-favored
Peroxisome proliferator activated receptor gamma	Transcription factor	M2-favored
Tubular sclerosis 1	Inhibitor of mTOR	M2-favored
AKT Serine/Threonine Kinase 1	Signaling	M2-favored
AKT Serine/Threonine Kinase 2	Signaling	M1-favored
Src homology region 2 domain-containing phosphatase-1/2	Phosphatases	M1-favored
SH2-containing Inositol 5'-Phosphatase	Phosphatase	M1-favored

Phosphatase and tensin homolog	Lipid phosphatase	M1-favored
Myeloid differentiation primary response 88	Signaling adapter	M1-favored
Tumor necrosis factor	Cytokine	M1-favored
Tumor necrosis factor receptor 1	Cytokine receptor	M1-favored
Interferon-gamma, Interleukin-12	Cytokines	M1-favored

To detail Table 2 and Figure 2, TH1 cells secrete IFN- $\gamma$ , which drives polarization of macrophages towards an M1 phenotype, while TH2 cells secrete IL-4 and IL-13, which drive M2-phenotype polarization [34,37]. IL-4 and IL-13 inhibit the production of nitric oxide, an inflammatory mediator, through the depletion of arginine, which serves as the substrate for iNOS/Nos2. This inhibition of NO production in macrophages was found to be dependent on IL-4 or IL-13 through the depletion of Arg-1 through a Stat6-dependent pathway [38]. This inhibition of NO production leads to a loss of the M1 phenotype and polarization toward the M2 phenotype through cytokines IL-4 and IL-13. IL-4 and LPS signaling can also target the mechanistic target of rapamycin (mTOR) and Akt to trigger polarization. In LPS-mediated M1 polarization, Toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4) activates phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K) followed by Akt and mammalian target of rapamycin complex 1 (mTORC1) activation, leading to M1 polarization [39,40]. Additionally, pharmacological and genetic inhibition of Akt1/2 has shown that Akt1 inhibits M1 activation, and Akt2 leads to the activation of M1 genes, favoring polarization to the M1 phenotype [39,40]. Akt signaling is likely to control macrophage polarization through downstream effectors; for example, Akt signaling inhibits transcription factor Foxo1, which is a key gene in M1 macrophages. Additionally, Akt1 has been implicated as a negative regulator of the nuclear factor, kappa-light-chain-enhanced activity of activated B cells (NF-kB), while Akt2 is a positive regulator. NF-kB is a master regulator of M1 activation [41]. Src homology region 2 domain-containing phosphatase 1/2 (SHP-1/2) inhibits CD11b

activity, therefore inhibiting M2 polarization and leading to an increase in M1-type macrophages [42]. Src homology 2 (SH2) domain-containing inositol polyphosphate 5-phosphatase (SHIP) is another phosphatase that inhibits the activation of M2-like macrophages. SHIP<sup>-/-</sup> peritoneal and alveolar macrophages have been found to be profoundly M2-skewed, with high arginase I levels and impaired LPS-stimulated NO production [43]. Phosphatase and tensin homolog (PTEN) plays a key role in regulating the inflammatory response through M1-polarization. Mice with a myeloid-specific PTEN knockout have been shown to have levels of M2 macrophages and produce lower TNF- $\alpha$  and higher IL-10 in response to TLR ligands, indicating that PTEN plays a key role in M1 macrophage differentiation [44]. Tumor necrosis factor (TNF) has been found to be a positive regulator of M1 polarization through its activation of the NF- $\kappa$ B pathway. Tumor necrosis factor receptor (TNFR) signaling was found to be a negative regulator of M2 polarization primary response 88 (MyD88) was shown to suppress M2 gene expression in TAMs, leading to an M1 phenotype [45].



Figure 2. Signaling pathways of macrophage polarization. This figure illustrates several of the various mechanisms that drive extrinsic macrophage polarization. Those pathways include IFN-y and IL-12 secretion by TH1 T-cells, LPS signaling through mTOR/Akt or TLR4, Akt2/NF-ĸB activation, SHP-1/2 inhibition of Cd11b, SHIP and MyD88 inhibition of M2 genes, PTEN activation, and TNF/TNFR/NF-kB activation to induce M1 gene expression. Induction of M2 genes is directed by the secretion of IL-4 and IL-13 from TH2 Tcells and IL-4Ra receptor activation as well as downstream Stat6-dependent arginase-1 inhibition, PPARy activation, and TSC1 inhibition of mTOR. This figure was created with Biorender.com.

## Hypoxia-Induced Polarization

Hypoxia can be a key driver of macrophage recruitment and polarization in the TME. Hypoxia is common in most solid tumors, and TAMs are found in higher concentrations in hypoxic areas. Due to the high concentrations of chemokines, HIF-1/2, and endothelin-2 secreted from hypoxic tissues, macrophages are drawn to the hypoxic areas [46]. Damage-associated molecular pattern (DAMP), high-mobility group box 1 protein (HMGB1) is most commonly associated with hypoxia-induced macrophage polarization. HMGB1 has been shown to be overexpressed in many solid tumors and correlated with the development of hepatocellular carcinoma [47] as well as colon [48] and skin cancers [49]. In metastatic melanoma, serum HMGB1 levels in human patient samples have been shown elevated compared to healthy controls. [50]. Additionally, a murine model of metastatic melanoma analysis of dissociated tumors by flow cytometry showed a significant increase in the total number of TAMs exhibiting a M2 phenotype in HMGB1-positive tumors [50]. Using short-hairpin RNA (shRNA) to target HMGB1, a higher number of M1-polarized macrophages were found at the tumor site, indicating that HMGB1 led to the M2 polarization of recruited macrophages. In the same study, HMGB1 was found to induce IL-10 production in M2-like macrophages through receptor for advanced glycation end product (RAGE)-dependent signaling [50]. HMGB1 had no effect on IL-6, TNF, or IL-1β expression but significantly increased IL-10 expression in bone-marrow derived M2-like macro-phages [50]. RAGE<sup>-/-</sup> mice did not show an upregulation of IL-10 signaling, indicating that this induction was through RAGE-dependent signaling [50]. These hypoxia-associated macrophages secreted higher levels of pro-angiogenic factors VEGF and TNFα [50].

### Intrinsic Polarization

Intrinsic macrophage polarization refers to the origin of the macrophage. Macrophages have classically been described as being derived from bone marrow-derived circulating monocytes. However, additional sources of macrophage progenitors have been discovered. Many organs harbor embryonic-derived populations of resident macrophages that can self-renew and maintain throughout adulthood [4,36]. Most TAMs have been shown to be from either an embryonic precursor (either the fetal liver or yolk sac) or a monocyte precursor from an adult origin. Historically, TAMs have been observed as being exclusively from a circulating monocyte origin that undergoes differentiation upon tissue infiltration, although a higher fraction of

resident macrophages have been discovered in solid tumors [51]. TAM recruitment is highly linked to the CCL2/CCR2 axis [52], and in many cancer models, blocking this axis has led to a significant decrease in TAM populations [53]. The theory of monocyte-derived TAMs was tested in a mouse model of pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma. Ccr2<sup>-/-</sup> mice showed no difference in tumor weight, but a depletion of resident TAMs using an anti-CSF1R antibody and clodronate showed a significant reduction in weight [54], indicating that resident macrophages made up a larger part of TAM populations than previously hypothesized. In mice, embryonic macrophages begin to develop at embryonic day 8 and give rise to macrophages that do not have a monocyte progenitor [4]. The fetal liver serves as the site of hematopoiesis of circulating monocytes originally, but then primary hematopoiesis is shifted to the bone marrow later in development, significantly increasing the bone marrow-derived monocyte population and minimizing the importance of embryonic macrophages [4]. The developmental origin of macrophages has been linked to some changes in polarization state. At any tissue site, there is always a mixture of both bone marrow-derived and embryonic macrophages [55]. The importance of origin in polarization is heavily debated, as hematopoietic depletion in lethal irradiation, chemotherapy, and systemic infection has shown that macrophage populations can fully return from a bone marrow-derived origin [56]. However, data has suggested that bone marrow-derived macrophages are more susceptible to local signals and subsequent polarization than embryonic macrophages, which appear to exhibit less plasticity than BM-derived macrophages [57]. Additionally, tissue signals appear to trump the embryonic developmental signals, and polarization states reflect the signals received from the environment rather than signals received from embryonic macrophages [58].

The mechanism of macrophage polarization is important to understand because of the potential ability to therapeutically manipulate the interchangeable polarization states of macrophages and subsequently promote or inhibit inflammation in cancer and other inflammation-related diseases.

## Influence of the Tumor Microenvironment on Macrophage Polarization

The polarization process of TAMs is directly controlled by cancer cells within the TME [59], and the phenotypic ratio changes drastically as cancer progresses. At early stages, the ratio is more favorable for M1 macrophages, but as cancer cells hijack this process, the M2-like population drastically increases. M1-like macrophages are essential tumor-suppressing cells that initially act in the tumor microenvironment to suppress tumor cell growth [59,60]. M1-like macrophages achieve this suppressing effect by recruiting CD8<sup>+</sup> T and NK cells to the TME through antigen presentation to the T-cell receptor (TCR) [61] and the tumor-derived chemokine secretion of CXCL9, CXCL10, and CXCL11 to recruit and activate NK cells [62]. These CD8<sup>+</sup> T and NK cells express high levels of cytokines such as IFN- $\gamma$ , GM-CSF, and TNF $\alpha$  as well as chemokines such as CCL4, CCL5, and CCL23 that assist in the further recruitment of immune cells and the signaling of anti-tumorigenic pathways [59,60]. The M1 phenotype is also associated with the expression of IL-12, IL-1, and inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) [63,64] The M1 phenotype is well-characterized for its anti-tumorigenic properties, and an increased M1/M2 TAM ratio has been linked to an improved 5-year prognosis in ovarian cancers [63].

Most commonly, M1 macrophages are positively associated with longer survival times and most positive clinical outcomes in many cancers such as small cell lung cancer [65], nonsmall cell lung cancer [66], colorectal cancer [67], ovarian cancer [63], breast cancer [68], oral squamous cell carcinoma [69], and more. However, in some cancers such as renal cell carcinoma

(RCC), several markers of M1 macrophages have been found alongside M2 markers in TAMs isolated from patients, indicating that some TAMs can exhibit a hybrid phenotype in some cancers [70]. In the skin, during early stages of tumor development, M1 TAMs shifted to the M2 phenotype in melanoma, but the presence of either M1 or M2 TAMs was associated with poor prognosis [71].

Malignant cells can secrete M2-like cytokines such as IL-10, CCL2/3/4/5/7/8, CXCL12, VEGF, and platelet derived growth factor (PDGF) in order to recruit more monocytes and M0 macrophages to the area and differentiate them into the M2 phenotype [63]. The majority of intratumoral macrophages exhibit an M2 phenotype and are correlated with poor prognosis in several malignancies [72,73].

Tumor-associated macrophages are implicated in cancer cell latency, growth, and metastasis through the secretion of cytokines, chemokines, and growth factors. In the tumor microenvironment (TME), TAMs are most frequently found in the M2-like, pro-tumor phenotype [74,75]. M2-like macrophages characteristically assist the cancer cell in metastasis, angiogenesis, and proliferation through various anti-inflammatory mechanisms.

## **Pro-Tumorigenic Outcomes**

## Immune Suppression

Current literature supports the theory that most TAMs originate from either tissueresident embryonic macrophages or macrophages derived from circulating monocytes that originate in the bone marrow [73]. Monocytes are recruited to the tumor by various growth factors and cytokines such as CCL2, CCL5, and CSF1 [76,77]. While the tumor microenvironment can polarize both tissue-resident and bone marrow-derived macrophages depending on the tissue type, it is hypothesized that tissue-resident macrophages are the first to be affected [76]. These tissue-resident macrophages primarily cause DNA damage, survival of transformed cells, and cancer-related inflammation. Monocyte-derived macrophages that are recruited to the tumor site usually promote the proliferation and survival of tumor cells and angiogenesis [78].

M2-type macrophages play a significant immunosuppressive role and have been found to secrete immunosuppressive molecules into the TME including IL-10, TGF- $\beta$ , and human leukocyte antigen G (HLA-G) [79]. Additionally, M2-type cells interact directly with myeloidderived suppressor cells (MDSC) and actively suppress T-cell-mediated anti-tumor responses [80]. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells are a heterogeneous population of non-defined myeloid cells that typically expand during inflammation, infection, and cancer. In mice, these cells are characterized by GR1 and CD11b expression and in humans, characterized by the phenotype CD14<sup>-</sup>CD11b<sup>+</sup> [81]. MDSCs are associated with the metabolism of L-arginine, providing the substrate for iNOS and arginase-1. MDSCs express high levels of both iNOS and arginase-1, which both play a direct role in suppression of T-cell function [81]. MDSC are elevated in most individuals with cancer and are key producers of IL-10, reducing the macrophage production of IL-12, skewing macrophages towards the M2-phenotype, and contributing to MDSC suppression [80]. Other cell-cell interactions induce STAT3 activation, which adds many different immunosuppressive cytokines to the TME [82]. M2 macrophages also play a significant role in recruiting regulatory T-cells into the TME through the chemokine receptor CCR4 as well as M2derived CCL17/CCL22 [82]. M2 TAMs also show increased programmed cell death 1 ligand 1 (PD-L1), also known as B7-H1, and increased cytotoxic T-lymphocyte antigen 4 (CTLA4) ligand expression. Both PD-L1 and CTLA4 are well-characterized immune checkpoints for

cytotoxic T-cells, inhibiting their ability to eliminate cancer cells [83-85]. In studies from patients with hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC), elevated levels of PD-L1 expression by TAMs correlated with poorer clinical outcomes compared to patients with lower PD-L1 expression [86]. Glioblastoma patient samples showed TAMs having in-creased expression of PD-L1 compared to circulating monocytes, which had minimal PD-L1 expression. Circulating monocytes with low levels of PD-L1 expression were co-cultured with the glioblastoma cancer cell line U251, both through direct contact between cells and by using a 0.2μm filter. After 24h, the number of PD-L1 expressing cells increased by more than 2-fold (48.0 ± 5.2% vs. 13.0 ± 3.9%) through the 0.2μm filter and more than 4-fold (83.9 ± 6.2% vs. 13.0 ± 3.9%) in direct cell-to-cell contact [86]. In a mouse model of Lewis lung carcinoma (LLC), tumor-infiltrating T-cells in LLC grown in mice were analyzed to determine how TAMs affected the defense response. It was found that CD4 and CD8α T-cell infiltration was significantly increased after tumors were depleted of TAMs [83].

Additional immunosuppressive surface ligands expressed by M2 TAMs include the PD-L1 [84] and B7-H4 [85] immunosuppressive surface ligands. In a study of human gastric cancer patient tissue, PD-L1 and B7-H4 expression on circulating monocytes was significantly higher than normal tissue controls, and advanced stage tissues experienced higher levels of B7-H4 expression than earlier stage cancers on circulating monocytes [84]. Further studies showed that B7-H1 expression was significantly higher on TAMs in the gastric cancer tissues than circulating monocytes [84]. B7-H4<sup>+</sup> TAMs were shown to suppress CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cell proliferation and IFN- $\gamma$ secretion more than B7<sup>-</sup>H4<sup>+</sup> TAMs [84], leading to greater immune evasion and suppression by TAMs. After surgical removal of the whole gastric tumor, B7-H4 expression decreased substantially, from 7.9 ± 6.9% to 2.8 ± 1.3% one month after surgery [84]. Finally, *in vitro*, it was demonstrated that gastric cell lines could induce B7-H4 expression on monocytes. Two gastric cancer cell lines, MKN-45 and MKN-74, were directly cocultured with PBMCs for 24h, resulting in a significant upregulation of B7-H4 expression. In an indirect coculture using supernatants from both cell lines, this upregulation was not observed, indicating that direct cell-to-cell contact was necessary for this induction [84].

## **Proliferation**

Uncontrollable proliferation is one of the hallmarks of cancer. TAM M2 macrophages express molecules that can directly affect cancer cell proliferation including members of the fibroblast growth factor (FGF) family, namely transforming growth factor beta (TGF- $\beta$ ) and epidermal growth factor (EGF) [75,87]. The epidermal growth factor is a tyrosine kinase that typically plays an important role in normal physiological conditions, causing downstream activation of molecules that allow for the avoidance of apoptosis, the promotion of proliferation and invasion, and metastasis [88]. In many human cancers, EGFR is overexpressed, leading to an increase in cell proliferation, angiogenesis, metastasis, and inhibition of apoptosis [89]. Fibroblast growth factors and their receptors lead developmental signaling pathways responsible for cell survival, migration, and proliferation [89]. TGF- $\beta$  is a growth regulatory protein that typically inhibits cell proliferation. In cancer, there is a marked upregulation of TGF- $\beta$ , and this is linked to advanced stages of cancer and decreased survival rates [90]. Cancer cells often lose their response to the inhibitory proliferative effects of TGF- $\beta$ . The additional functions of TGF- $\beta$ include angiogenesis and immunosuppressive effects, allowing for immune evasion and metastasis [90].

A study done on the effects of M2 macrophages in an orthotopic nude mouse model of liver cancer showed that M2 macrophages injected into the liver promoted tumor growth,

increasing the tumor volume by 3.26-fold compared to the negative control. Injected M1 macrophages showed a 2.31-fold decrease compared to the control [30].

## Lymphangiogenesis, Angiogenesis, and Metastasis

Angiogenesis is an essential process for the survival of malignant tissue, providing nutrients and oxygen for growth. While angiogenesis theoretically provides all necessities for tumor survival, tumor angiogenesis is not a perfect process, leading to many dysfunctional vessels and the perpetuation of hypoxia [91]. TAMs play a key role in tumor angiogenesis and have been described in animal models of ovarian cancer, cervical cancer, prostate cancer, breast cancer, and melanoma [87]. TAMs can sense hypoxia in tumors and react with the production of VEGFA, which can stimulate the chemotaxis of endothelial cells and macrophages and lead to an elevated expression of MMP9 from TAMs [87]. This elevated MMP9 mediates extracellular matrix degradation and the release of bioactive VEGFA [87]. Hypoxia is strongly associated with adverse prognosis in cancer, and hypoxia pathways are frequently activated during cancer development. In non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC), TAMs were shown to enhance tumor hypoxia in mouse subcutaneous tumors and in patients. In mouse models of NSCLC, TAMs exhibited increased gene expression in hypoxic pathway-signaling molecules Vegfa, Slc2a1, Pdk1, and Cxcr4. Interestingly, M1 marker Nos2 was upregulated, and M2 marker arginase-1 was also upregulated, indicating a mixed phenotype in angiogenesis-promoting TAMs [90]. TAMs can also influence hypoxia in the TME because of their aberrant, pro-angiogenic factor secretion, leading to leaky blood vessels that lose normal structure and function. These blood vessels are often leaky, with loose endothelial junctions, defective basement membranes, and

lacking pericyte coverage. Macrophages and hypoxia exist in a positive feedback loop, as hypoxia drive TAM polarization, and TAMs drive hypoxia through poor vessel formation [86]. The epithelial–mesenchymal transition (EMT) is a process where epithelial tumor cells lose their epithelial characteristics and gain mesenchymal function [92]. This transition contributes to overall metastasis through increased invasiveness and motility of the cancer cells themselves [93]. This EMT process enables cancer cells to leave the tissue site, enter the bloodstream, and infiltrate other body sites.

M2-like macrophages play an important role in EMT during cancer progression [94]. They can induce EMT through various signaling pathways such as the TLR4 and IL-10 pathways [95], the TGF- $\beta$ /Smad2 pathway [95], and the miR-30a/NF- $\kappa$ B/Snail [96] signaling pathways. Additionally, high expression of M2 marker CD68 has been linked to loss of E-cadherin expression, an essential tumor suppressor protein that prohibits EMT and metastasis [92].

M2 macrophages play a key role in the initiation of metastasis through the secretion of pro-angiogenic cytokines and growth factors [97] (Table 3). Neovascularization of the tumor microenvironment is crucial for not only nutrient supply, but also for initiation of metastasis, as cancer cells can enter the bloodstream and travel throughout the body to establish foothold in other areas. The angiogenic involvement of M2 macrophages can be further subcategorized into M2a, or alternatively activated macrophages, and M2c, or regulatory macrophages. M2a-induced angiogenesis is regulated by fibroblast growth factor (FGF) signaling, and the M2c-induced angiogenesis is regulated by placental growth factor (PIGF) signaling [97]. TGF- $\beta$  also plays a key role in the angiogenic progression of malignant cells. Early in tumor development, TGF- $\beta$  is a tumor suppressor factor and it inhibits proliferation and induces apoptosis. Tumor cells eventually overcome the TGF- $\beta$ -induced suppressive effects, and TGF- $\beta$  induces the epithelial–

mesenchymal transition, (EMT) which facilitates invasion and metastasis. Overexpression of TGF- $\beta$  is reported in many human cancers and is constitutively expressed by M2 TAMs. This overexpression is correlated with tumor progression, metastasis, angiogenesis, and poor prognosis [98]. Additionally, M2-like macrophages promote blood vessel formation through their close association with endothelial cells in the TME. M2-macrophages have been found to co-localize with these endothelial cells at the branching points and merge into tubes to become part of the tubular network [97].

Factors Secreted by M2 TAMs	Pro-Tumorigenic Outcome
EGF, IL-8, IL-10, CCL2	Tumor growth
IL-10, TGF-b, MMP-7, PD-1, PDE-2, arginase	Immune suppression
CCL18, CCL22, MMPs, TGF-b, EGF, CCL20, IGF-1	Tumor invasion and metastasis
VEGFA, PDGF, COX2, HIF, MMPs, IL-10,	Tumor angiogenesis and
adrenomedullin	lymphangiogenesis
TGF-b, MMPs, IL-6, IL-10	Anti-cancer therapy resistance

**Table 3.** Soluble factors secreted by M2-polarized TAMs, influencing various pro-tumor outcomes.

TAMs support tumor lymphangiogenesis by secreting pro-lymphangiogenic factors and by trans-differentiating into lymphatic epithelial cells. TAMs produce matrix metallopeptidase 9 (MMP9) abundantly, which leads to the development of lymphatic vessels [87] in addition to VEGFR-3 and its ligands VEGF-C and VEGF-D, leading to lymphangiogenesis. TAMs can also integrate directly into peritumoral lymphatic vessels, where they lose their macrophage functions and become a part of the lymphatic vessel wall. Indirectly, TAMs produce the enzymes plasmin, urokinase plasminogen activator, and MMP, which regulate matrix remodeling and growth factor regulation [5, 99]. Similar to angiogenesis, lymphangiogenesis provides an additional avenue for malignant cells to travel through the body and establish footholds in other areas [100]. Both lymphangiogenesis and angiogenesis can play key roles in the initiation of metastasis, allowing malignant cells to travel via new formed vessels to various tissues in the body and causing complications in therapy as well as decreased survival [89,100]. Understanding the role of TAMs in these processes allows for the development of therapeutic targets that inhibit metastasis through these mechanisms.

## Proposed therapies to treat macrophage polarization

The complex biology of TAMs and their involved role in tumor proliferation, angiogenesis, EMT, metastasis, immune suppression, and therapy resistance makes developing anti-cancer therapies that consider all mechanisms of pro-tumor activity difficult. Some therapies aiming to either reprogram TAMs toward an M1 phenotype, kill existing TAMs, or inhibit the recruitment of new TAMs have been developed. CSF-1 has been described as the most important tumor-derived factor leading to monocyte recruitment through CCL2/CCR2 interaction, so CCR2 blockade therapies have been effective in suppressing TAM recruitment [101]. Both CCR2 inhibitors and anti-CCL2 monoclonal antibodies have been used in pre-clinical murine models to disrupt this CCL2/CCR2 interaction, showing efficacy both on their own and in combination with other anti-cancer therapies [102,103]. While this has shown promise, in murine breast cancer models, a rebound effect was shown after the withdrawal of anti-CCL2 treatment, increasing the infiltration of bone-marrow monocytes into the tumor and accelerating lung metastasis [104]. Another key pathway in monocyte recruitment and differentiation into TAMs is the CXCL12/CXCR4 interaction. In breast cancer, expression of CXCL12 by tumor cells increased the number of macrophages and blood vessel density, contributing to metastasis [105]. Inhibition of CXCR4 with AMD3100 reduced the formation of metastasis [106].

Depletion of TAMs is another therapy group being developed to help combat the multifaceted functions of TAMs in tumor progression and resistance. CSF-1 or CSF-1R expression in the TME has been associated with poor prognosis in many types of cancer. Because CSF-1 plays a key role in the proliferation and survival of monocytes and macrophages, the CSF-1/CSF-1R interaction is an attractive target for reducing the number of TAMs. A monoclonal antibody, emactuzumab, targets CSF-1R, decreasing the number of TAMs and increasing the CD8<sup>+</sup>/CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cell ratio in the TME in a pre-clinical mouse model [107]. Small molecule CSF-1R blockades such as PLX3397 have been developed as well and have shown increased CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cell infiltration and improved therapy response in murine models of several different tumor types [108]. While targeting the CSF-1/CSF-1R pathway appears to be an attractive target, some studies have shown that long-term CSF-1R inhibition can lead to activation of the PI3K pathway and therapy resistance over time. A combination PI3K blockade and CSF-1R inhibition has shown positive results in pre-clinical trials [109].

Reprogramming M2 TAMs toward a more pro-inflammatory M1 phenotype is the third category of anti-TAM cancer therapy. Toll-like receptors are key players in M1 programming, as upon binding of a ligand to these receptors, macrophages are activated and exhibit an M1 phenotype [110]. Targeting of TLR3, TLR7, TLR8, and TLR9 have all been evaluated in the past few years but currently, a TLR7 agonist, imiquimod, is the only FDA-approved, topical-only treatment for squamous and basal cell carcinomas [111]. TLR3 stimulation with poly I:C has been shown to be more effective than imiquimod in reprogramming M2 TAMs to an M1

phenotype [112], but this type of treatment has not yet been fully developed. A nanoparticle containing poly I:C targeted for M2 TAMs was developed and *in vitro*, TNF- $\alpha$  and iNOS expression was upregulated and NO secretion was increased [113].

Tumor-associated macrophages play a key role in the development, metastasis, and reoccurrence of human malignancies, contributing to nearly every step of tumorigenesis. TAMs contribute to malignant cell proliferation, inflammation, host cell immunosuppression, angiogenesis and lymphangiogenesis, and therapy resistance. While there is still much to understand about macrophage regulation in the tumor microenvironment, it may prove to be a potentially effective anti-tumor therapeutic target if we gain the ability to control the switching of tumor-associated macrophages from M2 to M1 phenotypes.

#### Waldenström macroglobulinemia

Waldenström macroglobulinemia (WM) is a rare, indolent B-cell malignancy, characterized by the infiltration of plasma cells, plasmacytoid lymphocytes, and small lymphocytes to the bone marrow [114-116]. The median age of diagnosis is 63-68 years old [117] and this disease accounts for 1-2% of hematological neoplasms, with an age-adjusted incidence rate of 3.4 per million among male and 1.7 per million among female populations in the United States [117]. The World Health Organization defines WM as a lymphoplasmacytic lymphoma (LPL) with an immunoglobulin M (IgM) paraprotein [115, 118]. The most frequently observed cytogenetic abnormality in WM is deletion of the long arm of chromosome 6 (6q). This deletion is correlated with poor prognostic features, such as higher levels of beta2-microglobulin and a greater prevalence of hypoalbuminemia and anemia [117, 119]. There is no standard treatment for WM and treatment programs are variable. To date, no cure has been discovered for

WM [120]. Because most WM/LPL patients eventually relapse, there is a need to balance benefit of treatment and the side effects of that treatment. Some patients with WM will relapse with the aggressive form of non-Hodgkin lymphoma [121, 122]. Approximately 75% of WM patients have symptoms at the time of diagnosis and anemia is common, as WM cells growth in the bone marrow progresses [115]. Hyperviscosity syndrome, caused by abnormal IgM secretion and accumulation in the blood, occurs in 10-30% of patients, and may be life-threatening [115]. Lymphoma cells typically express CD19, CD20, CD22, CD79α and lack CD5, CD10, and CD23 which aids in discriminating WM from follicular lymphoma, chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL), and mantle cell lymphoma (MCL). It is almost always possible to document CD138+ plasma cells in WM either by immunohistochemistry or flow cytometry. The expression of CD5, CD10, and CD23 may be found in 10-20% of lymphoma cases and doesn't exclude the diagnosis of WM. WM has to be separated from the CD5+ lymphoplasmocytoid lymphoma as these cases are B-CLL variants. A diagnosis of WM requires the differentiation from IgM myeloma, which is a rare disease presenting as a homogenous plasma cell population in the bone marrow, characterized by symptomatic clonal plasma cell proliferation, 10% or more plasma cells on bone marrow biopsy, plus the presence of lytic bone lesions and/or translocation.

## Tumor Microenvironment in WM

The tumor microenvironment has recently become an emerging area of research, with a growing number of studies looking at the tumor microenvironment in not only WM, but in other cancers as well. Homing to the bone marrow is a key characteristic of WM and the mechanisms by which WM cells home to the bone marrow have been investigated. Chemokine stromal

derived factor-1 (SDF-1) is highly expressed in the bone marrow of WM patients and is involved in increased migration by WM cells *in vitro* [123].

The bone marrow is made up of a collection of immune and non-immune cells, including T-cells, B-cells, macrophages, myeloid-derived suppressor cells, mast cells, mesenchymal stem cells, osteoclasts, osteoblasts, natural killer cells, and dendritic cells (Figure 3) [124]. While the full function and mechanism of these cells in the progression of WM has not been described, some efforts have been made to quantify the importance of these cells in WM prognosis. Recently, reports on the role of mast cells, T-cells, monocytes, and endothelial cells in WM have been published. Mast cell hyperplasia is a characteristic of WM. It has been previously demonstrated that mast cells in the bone marrow of WM patients induce proliferation of malignant B cells through CD40L and CD40 interactions [125].

T-cells have also been examined in WM and the expression of PD-1 and the ligands PD-L1 and PD-L2 have been characterized. PD-L1 and PD-L2 gene expression was induced by IL-21, interferon-γ, and IL-6 expression in WM cell lines and patient bone marrow cells. Increased expression of PD-L1 and PD-L2 in the bone marrow of WM patients increased the proliferation of malignant B cells and reduced T-cell proliferation [126].



**Blood vessel** 

**Figure 3:** Schematic representation of some of the cells present in the WM tumor microenvironment. This figure was generated using www.biorender.com.

Bone marrow stromal cells (BMSC) are a heterogenous population that have been shown to play an important role in normal and malignant cell biology [127]. Mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) serve as the progenitor for most bone marrow stromal cell populations, including osteoblasts, chrondrocytes, fibroblasts, endothelial cells, and myocytes [128]. In WM, BMSCs have been shown to regulate the proliferation of tumor cells while contributing to increased drug therapy resistance [129].

Endothelial cells have been shown to increase WM cell adhesion and proliferation through the Ephrin receptor B2 (Eph-B2), which is found upregulated on WM cells [130]. The Eph-B2 receptor was found to be activated in WM patients compared with healthy samples. Endothelial cells in the bone marrow express high levels of Ephrin-B2 ligand. Blocking of either Ephrin-B2 or Eph-B2 inhibited the increased adhesion and proliferation caused by the endothelial-WM cell interaction [129].

#### Mechanisms of Disease Progression in WM

#### **Proliferation**

IL-21 is a type I cytokine commonly found in the WM tumor microenvironment that rapidly induces the phosphorylation of STAT3 in WM cells [130]. MWCL-1 cells cultured in IL-21 for 72 hours displayed a dose-dependent increase in cellular proliferation and phosphorylated STAT3 levels [130]. In MWCL-1 cells, stimulation with IL-21 for 10 minutes yielded significant increases in the phosphorylation of STAT3 [130]. Treatment with a STAT3 inhibitor eliminated the IL-21-mediated increase in proliferation [130].

Fibroblast growth factor receptor 3 (FGFR3) is a member of the FGFR family that interacts with fibroblast growth factor 3 (FGF3), inducing a cascade of downstream signals that influence cell proliferation. This is well documented in many types of cancer, including tongue, colorectal, breast, bladder, and oral cancers [131-136]. In WM, the expression of FGFR3 on CD19<sup>+</sup> cells from WM patients was greater than expression on B cells from healthy subjects and FGFR3 was also overexpressed in the cell lines BCWM.1 and MEC-1 [137]. In cancer, overexpression of the Akt and mTOR pathways play an important role in the progression of malignancies through the phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase (PI3K)/Akt/mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) pathway. This pathway can enhance cell survival by inhibiting cell death and stimulating cell proliferation [138,139]. The activation of this pathway ultimately leads to growth, angiogenesis, resistance to apoptosis and therapy resistance [140,141]. In WM, constitutive activation of the PI3K/Akt pathway exists and leads to increased cell proliferation

and resistance to apoptosis [142]. Phosphatases and tensin homolog (PTEN) is a haploinsufficient tumor suppressor, therefore partial loss-of-function mutations can have a dramatic effect on cancer progression. PTEN acts to deactivate the PI3K/Akt/mTOR pathways, therefore loss-of-function can lead to constitutive activation. Studies in mouse models have shown that even a small reduction in PTEN expression can significantly increase cancer risk [143,144]. Unfortunately, PTEN loss-of-function mutations are frequent in human cancers, leading to the perpetual activation of AKT. Furthermore, the role of PTEN in WM has not been reported.

IL-6 is known to play an important role in normal B cell proliferation and maturation as well as in B-cell malignancies including diffuse large B-cell lymphoma [145], Hodgkin lymphoma [146], and multiple myeloma [147], where it has been shown to regulate the growth of malignant cells. Previous studies have shown that serum IL-6 levels are in-creased in patients with WM compared to healthy patients [148]. IL-6 has shown a significant upregulation of IgM secretion by WM cells through the CCL5-IL-6-IgM axis in the TME [149,150]. CCL5 signaling has been shown to induce expression of the transcription factor GLI2 through the PI3K-AKT-IkB-p65 pathway. GLI2 is required to modulate IL-6 expression in vitro and in vivo through this pathway [151]. Targeting the IL-6 receptor with Tocilizumab to block IL-6 effects on WM tumor cells was shown to reduce IgM levels and deter tumor growth in WM, while not inducing toxicity [152]. This suggests that blocking IL-6 may provide therapeutic efficacy in WM. Despite this, targeting IL-6 in WM patients has not been investigated.

The role of bone marrow stromal cells has been extensively studied in WM and are attributed to the growth of WM cells [142, 152-154]. Ephrin-B2 was demonstrated to be highly expressed on endothelial cells from the bone marrow of patients with WM com-pared with
healthy controls [129] and activation of the Eph-B2 receptor did not directly increase the proliferation of WM cells, but it increased adhesion of WM cells to endothelial cells, promoting WM cell proliferation [155]. This increase in WM cell proliferation is dependent on downstream activation of focal adhesion kinase (FAK) and Src and inhibition of ephrin-B2 on endothelial cells, preventing the proliferative induction from occurring [155].

B-lymphocyte stimulator (BLyS) is a TNF family member expressed by dendritic cells, neutrophils, monocytes, and macrophages and has been shown to be necessary for normal B-cell development. BLyS binds to the receptors B-cell-activating factor of the TNF family receptor (BAFF-R), transmembrane activator and CAML interactor (TACI) and B-cell maturation antigen (BCMA) on WM patients. Expression of BLyS in WM patient bone marrow and elevated serum BLyS levels have also been noted, as well as upregulated IgM secretion upon BLyS addition. In vitro, BLyS was shown to enhance proliferation and survival of WM cells [156]. Bone marrow mast cells are commonly associated with malignant cells in patients with WM. CD40 ligand (CD40L/CD154) is an inducer of B-cell proliferation and is expressed on malignant cell-associated mast cells in 94% of WM patients, in contrast with 0% of healthy patient mast cell samples. It was found that co-culture of mast cells and lymphoplasmacytic cells (LPC) induced LPC proliferation and tumor colony formation [125]. Increased Erk phosphorylation and cell growth in malignant B-cells co-cultured with CD40L-expressing stromal cells has also been reported. GLI2 induced increased CD40L expression and GLI2 knockdown decreased CD40L expression. GLI2 has been shown to directly bind to and regulate the activity of the CD40L promoter [157].

#### Survival

Myeloid differentiation factor 88 (MYD88) L265P somatic mutation is frequent in WM, with whole genome sequencing results showing 91% of WM/LPL patients expressed MYD88L265P [158,159]. The presence of MYD88L265P has also been reported in IgM monoclonal gammopathy of undetermined significance [160], mucosa-associated lymphoid tissue lymphoma (9%) [161] and diffuse large B-cell lymphoma [162]. Inhibition of MYD88/IRAK signaling induced apoptosis of MYD88L265P-expressing WM cells. This was done using a cell-permeating peptide that blocks MYD88 homodimerization which is essential for IRAK1 and IRAK4 signaling. This treatment induced significant apoptosis in BCWM.1, MWCL-1 cell lines as well as primary WM patient cells. Induction of apoptosis did not occur without the MYD88L265P mutation [158]. Due to the activation of NF-kB, increased antiapoptotic Bcl-xL expression has been observed in both MYD88L265P and MYD88 L265RPP mutations, promoting increased survival of malignant cells [163].

#### Angiogenesis

Angiogenesis plays an essential role in wound healing and bone repair and regeneration. This process forms new blood vessels from existing ones, which allow the body to re-establish normal blood flow, oxygen/nutrient/growth factor delivery to the injured or proliferating area [164-167]. In cancer, tumor cells can develop an angiogenic phenotype through the up-regulated pro-angiogenic or down-regulated anti-angiogenic pathways [168, 169]. This causes endothelial cells to enter a rapid growth phase, forming new blood vessels, providing nutrients, oxygen, and growth factors to the tumor cells [170]. This process is often rushed in cancer and endothelial cells do not have the time to form perfect blood vessels, leading to leaky, disorganized blood

vessels [171,172]. This an essential step of disease progression and serves to initiate the process of metastasis in many types of cancer [124, 171]. VEGF is a well-established growth factor, known for its role in both physiological and pathological angiogenesis. VEGF-A is the main member of the VEGF family and plays a key role in promoting angiogenesis during embryonic development and tissue repair under physiological conditions [167]. In cancer, VEGF-A production from tumor cells results in an angiogenic switch, leading way to vasculature growth and as a result, tumor growth and metastasis [167]. As the tumor mass increases, the oxygen availability of decreased and hypoxia occurs, leading to the release of proangiogenic factors such as VEGF-A [166]. Angiopoietin-1 (Ang-1) and its antagonist, angiopoietin-2 (Ang-2) are ligands for receptor tyrosine kinase Tie-2 and are also essential for angiogenesis in physiological and malignant conditions [173]. Fibroblast growth factors (FGF) are a family of heparin-binding growth factors. Basic FGF (bFGF) interacts with endothelial cell surface receptors and has proangiogenic activity [174]. The crosstalk between bFGF, VEGF and other inflammatory cytokines plays an important role in mediating angiogenesis in the tumor microenvironment.

In WM, the bone marrow microvessel density is only elevated in 30-40% of patients [175]. In a study of 56 patients with WM, it was reported that increased levels of angiogenin, vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), vascular endothelial growth factor A (VEGFA), and basic fibroblast growth factor in sera of patients, compared with healthy controls [176]. A lower level of the angiogenesis antagonist, angiopoetin-1 (Ang-1), was also reported in WM sera versus healthy controls [176].

### Hypoxia

Hypoxia plays an important role in the progression of many malignancies and activated hypoxia pathways are strongly associated with adverse prognosis in cancer [124]. Tumor hypoxia in multiple myeloma activates HIF1 $\alpha$  that promotes cell survival, motility, invasiveness, drug resistance, and neoangiogenesis [177,178] and is associated with a more aggressive tumor [179]. In multiple myeloma, the egress of bone multiple myeloma cells from the bone marrow into the circulation and into new niches was also demonstrated [180].

In a study demonstrating hypoxia in WM cells, the WM cell line, BCWM.1, was genetically engineered to express luciferase and mCherry fluorescent protein. The cells were injected into SCID mice via the tail vein and allowed to grow for 3 weeks to establish tumor burdens in the bone marrow of the mice [179]. This growth in the bone marrow was confirmed by flow cytometry. The mean fluorescent intensity (MFI) of hypoxia marker pimonidazole hydrochloride signal was analyzed and a direct correlation between the tumor burden in the bone marrow and hypoxia in the WM cells was found. Other cells in the bone marrow were tested for hypoxic signs as well and found that the mCherry-negative population was less hypoxic than the WM cells, but still showed hypoxic signs, and hypoxic signs were more greatly shown at higher tumor burdens [179]. In addition, the effect of tumor hypoxia on the egress of WM cells from the bone marrow was tested and a direct linear correlation between the hypoxia in the bone marrow and the number of circulating WM cells was found [179]. This indicated that the mchanism of WM cell entry to the circulation is regulated by hypoxia.

Hypoxia also plays a major role in regulating WM cell proliferation. BCWM.1 and MWCL.1 WM cell lines were exposed to normoxic and hypoxic conditions for 24 hours in vitro and found that after 24 hours of normoxia, the BCWM.1 and MWCL.1 cells had nearly doubled,

and the hypoxic cells only increased by 1.3-fold [179]. This suggests that hypoxic conditions do not promote WM cell growth but play a role in other aspects of WM biology.

#### Epithelial-Mesenchymal Transition

The epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT) is a process where cells lose their epithelial characteristics and gain mesenchymal characteristics [181]. This process can lead to increased invasiveness of the cancer cells, leading to overall metastasis [182]. This process allows cancer cells to leave the primary tissue site, enter the bloodstream, and infiltrate other tissues [125].

In a study of WM cells and hypoxia, the effect of hypoxia on the expression of EMT markers E-cadherin, CXCR4, and VLA-4 was assessed using flow cytometry. BCWM.1 cells were exposed to either normoxic or hypoxic conditions for 24 hours, then analyzed for expression of EMT markers by flow cytometry [179]. Additionally, in a study looking at the effect of Eph-B2 in WM cells, it was found that inhibition of Eph-B2 on WM cells reduced bone marrow infiltration by WM cells [155]. This indicates that the expression of Eph-B2 is essential to the bone marrow infiltration of WM cells, which leads to disease progression.

The adhesion ability of WM cells to bone marrow stromal cells and to each other was assessed *in vitro* and incubation of BCWM.1 or MWCL.1 cells in hypoxic conditions reduced their adhesion to a bone marrow stromal cell monolayer by 50% and 25%. This decrease in adhesion was linked to reduced expression of the epithelial marker E-cadherin in WM cells [179].

#### Metastasis

Ephrin receptors (Eph) represent the largest family of receptor tyrosine kinases (RTK) and are divided into 2 classes: Eph-A and Eph-B, depending on their affinity to ligands ephrin-A and ephrin-B [183]. These receptors are important in embryogenesis and development but are rarely found in adult tissue [184]. The Eph receptors and ephrin ligand serve as a guide during embryogenesis to position cells and modulate cell morphology [185]. EphA1/A2 and ephrin-A1 have been correlated with tumor malignancy and prognosis but can be over-expressed or down-regulated in various types of cancer. For example, higher ephrin-A1 expression in liver and colorectal cancer is associated with worse prognosis [186,187], but in stage I non-small cell lung cancer patients, higher expression levels of EPHA2 and ephrin-A1 improved their prognosis [188]. In WM patient samples, Eph-B2 receptor was overexpressed in primary WM cells and inhibiting ephrin-B2 on endothelial cells led to decreased adhesion of WM cells to endothelial cells and decreased proliferation, cell-cycle progression, signaling, and tumor progression in WM cells [130].



Figure 4: Signaling pathways contributing to tumor progression in WM.

Treating WM

There is no standard therapy for the treatment of WM [137] and only two FDA approved treatments, Zanubrutinib and Ibrutinib, exist [189]. Most treatments were originally derived from other lymphoproliferative diseases such as multiple myeloma and chronic lymphocytic leukemia [190].

Due to the crucial role of B cell receptor (BCR) signaling in B cell development and pathogenesis of B cell malignancies, efforts to drug the BCR signaling pathway has been extensively researched for treatment of B cell malignancies [191]. Bruton's tyrosine kinase (BTK) is a key component of BCR signaling, making BTK an important therapeutic target. Several BTK inhibitors have shown remarkable results in treating other B cell malignancies, such as chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL) [192,193], mantle cell lymphoma (MCL) [192], marginal zone lymphoma (MZL) [194], and Waldenström macroglobulinemia (WM) [194].

## GLI3

The transcription factor GLI3 is a member of the GLI family and is classically regulated by the hedgehog (Hh) signaling pathway. Gli3 can exist as a full length (Gli3-FL) or repressor (Gli3-R) form. Gli3 targets the Gli1 promoter upon activation of Hh signaling and is phosphorylated and partially degraded when Hh is inactive. Gli3 is important in embryonic development and has shown important roles in tissue, brain, and lung development. Additionally, Gli3 regulates B-, T-, and NK-cells and has been shown to play a role in inflammation through LPS-TLR4 signaling. Gli3 has also been shown to play a role in cancer and has been shown upregulated in multiple cancers. Gli3 influences pro-tumorigenic behaviors such as anchorageindependent growth, angiogenesis, proliferation, and migration [195].

# Methods

Cell lines and human monocytes

BCWM.1 cells were provided by Dr. Steven Treon (Dana Farber Cancer Institute, Boston, MA). MWCL-1 cells were provided by Dr. Stephen Ansell (Mayo Clinic, Rochester, MN), and RPCI-WM1 cells were provided by Dr. Asher Chanan-Khan (Mayo Clinic, Jacksonville, FL). WM cell lines were maintained in RPMI 1640 supplemented with 10% FBS and 1% antibiotic-antimycotic (AA). Cells were passaged every 3-4 days. THP-1 cells were purchased from ATCC (Manassas, VA) and cultured in RPMI 1640 supplemented with 10% FBS, 1% AA and 1% L-glutamine.

Primary monocytes were sorted from leukoreduction cones obtained from healthy donors from the Oklahoma Blood Institute (OBI). Cells were diluted with DPBS (1:5) and separated on a Ficoll-hypaque gradient as previously published [196] to isolate peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs). Monocytes were isolated from total PBMCs by magnetic cell sorting using the EasySep human buffy coat CD14<sup>+</sup> negative selection kit (Stemcell Technologies, Seattle, WA) according to the manufacturer's protocol.

#### Mouse bone marrow derived macrophages (BMDMs)

BMDM were isolated and generated from C57BL6/J mice as previously published [197]. Briefly, bone marrow was flushed from mouse femurs and tibias and was plated in 85% RPMI 1640 supplemented with 10% FBS and 1% antibiotic-antimycotic (AA) plus 15% L929 media to generate BMDMs. We have previously generated mice with conditional knockout of Gli3 in myeloid cells (*M-Gli3<sup>-/-</sup>*) [198]. Total bone marrow cells were harvested from femurs and tibias post-mortem under sterile conditions.

For murine bone marrow derived macrophage differentiation, C57BL/6J mice were euthanized and the bone marrow was harvested. Bone marrow cells were then plated in 6 well plates at  $0.25 \times 10^6$  cells per well and treated with media containing 15% L929 and the media was changed on day 4. On day 7, macrophages were successfully generated and ready to use.

#### Monocyte differentiation

Human THP-1 monocytic cell line was seeded in 6-well plates in 2mL of media at 1x10<sup>6</sup> cells/well. To differentiate into macrophages, 50 ng/mL phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate (PMA) was added to the media and incubated for 24 hours. After 24 hours, the cells were washed with complete media to remove PMA and let rest for 24 hours to generate M0 macrophages.

For CD14<sup>+</sup> M0 differentiation from monocytes, recombinant MCSF (50ng/mL) was added to the media for 7 days and the medium was supplemented every 2-3 days. After 7 days, CD14<sup>+</sup> M0's were washed with complete media to remove MCSF and then used in further experiments.

#### Macrophage polarization

Both human THP-1 M0 and CD14+ M0 were differentiated into M1 and M2 phenotypes by cytokine treatment after generation of M0 cells. M1 macrophages were generated using 10ng/ml lipopolysaccharide (LPS) and 100 ng/ml interferon-gamma (IFN-γ). M2 macrophages were generated using 20 ng/mL recombinant human interleukin-4 (IL-4) and 20ng/mL recombinant human interleukin-13 (IL-13).

Murine macrophages were generated on day 7 post-harvest. M1 macrophages were generated using 1  $\mu$ g/mL LPS and 300 ng/mL IFN- $\gamma$ , while M2 macrophages were generated using 40ng/mL murine recombinant IL-10 and 40 ng/mL murine recombinant IL-13. All recombinant proteins were purchased from Peprotech (Cranbury, NJ).

#### RNA isolation and RT-qPCR

Total RNA was extracted using TRIsure reagent (Bioline, London, UK), according to the manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, 1mL of TRIsure was added to cells upon harvest and incubated for 5 minutes at room temperature. Then, 0.2mL of chloroform was added to each sample, spun, and incubated for 10 minutes at room temperature. These samples were then spun at 12,000xg for 15 minutes at 4°C, and the aqueous phase was transferred to a new tube. Isopropyl alcohol was added to the aqueous phase and re-spun at 12,000xg for 15 minutes at  $4^{\circ}$ C. The supernatant was discarded upon the identification of a pellet. The pellet was then washed with ethanol, spun at 12,000xg for 5 minutes at 4°C. The ethanol was discarded, and the pellets were set to dry overnight. Once dry, the pellets were resuspended in 20µL nanopure water and RNA concentrations were calculated and the samples were adjusted to the lowest sample concentration using nanopure water. cDNA was synthesized using Promega M-MLV reverse transcriptase following the manufacturer's instructions (Promega, Madison, WI). Briefly, RNA and nuclease free water was added to a final volume of 12  $\mu$ L and 1  $\mu$ L of dNTPs (Invitrogen, Waltham, MA) and random decamers (IDT-DNA, Coralville, IA) were added to the tube. The samples were heated to 65°C before adding 4µL 5x M-MLV buffer (Promega, Madison, WI),

1µL nuclease free water, and 1µL M-MLV reverse transcriptase (Promega, Madison, WI) to each reaction. Each reaction was run under a reverse transcription program on a thermal cycler to complete the reaction, and cDNA was then used directly in qPCR.

For M1 and M2 marker expression, quantitative PCR reaction (qPCR) was performed, and the results were analyzed using Applied Biosystems ViiA 7 Real-time PCR Instrument (Life Technologies, Grand Island, NY). The primers used were purchased from IDT-DNA (Coralville, IA). Oligonucleotide primer sequences can be found in Table 4.

Target	Species	Forward primer (5'-3')	Reverse primer (5'-3')
CD206	Human	CTACAAGGGATCGGGTTTATGGA	TTGGCATTGCCTAGTAGCGTA [12]
CCL2	Human	GCCACCTTCATTCCCCAAGGG	GCTTCTTTGGGACACTTGCTGC
CCL22	Human	ATTACGTCCGTTACCGTCTG	TAGGCTCTTCATTGGCTCAG [12]
IL-1β	Human	GGACAGGATATGGAGCAACAA	CCCAAGGCCACAGGTATTT
GAPDH	Human	CTCGACTTCAACAGCGACA	GTAGCCAAATTCGTTGTCATACC
CD163	Mouse	GCAAAAACTGGCAGTGGG	GTCAAAATCACAGACGGAG [13]
ARG2	Mouse	GAAGTGGTTAGTAGAGCTGTGTC	GGTGAGAGGTGTATTAATGTCCG [13]
TNFa	Mouse	CTTCTGTCTACTGAACTTCGGG	CACTTGGTGGTTTGCTACGAC [13]
iNOS	Mouse	CAGCACAGGAAATGTTTCAGC	TAGCCAGCGTACCGGATGA [13]
GAPDH	Mouse	CGTCCCGTAGACAAAATGGT	TTGATGGCAACAATCTCCAC

**Table 4.** Sequence of the oligonucleotide primers used for qPCR.

Reagents and recombinant proteins

Dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) and trypan blue dye were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich and Corning Incorporated, respectively. All recombinant proteins were purchased from Peprotech (Cranbury, NJ), including murine recombinant IL-13, IL-10, and IFN-γ, and human recombinant IL-4, IL-13, IFN-γ, and M-CSF.

#### Cell viability and proliferation assay

Cell viability was determined using trypan blue exclusion. Cells were counted using a Luna II automated cell counter (Logos Biosystems, Annandale, VA) based on manufacturer's instructions. CD14<sup>+</sup> or human THP-1 monocytes ( $0.5 \times 10^6$  cells/well) were differentiated into M0, M1 and M2 phenotypes and then co-cultured with WM cell lines ( $0.5 \times 10^6$  cells/well) in 24-well plates for 120 hours. Every 24 hours, cell viability was analyzed.

Cell proliferation was evaluated using TACS XTT Cell Proliferation Assay (R&D Systems, Minneapolis, MN). CD14<sup>+</sup> and human THP-1 monocytes were seeded in 48-well plates at  $0.25 \times 10^6$  cells/well. Cells were polarized into M0, M1 and M2 phenotypes and WM cells were added ( $0.25 \times 10^6$  cells/well) and co-cultured for 3 days. After 3 days of co-culture,  $100\mu$ L of WM cells were removed from each well and re-plated in a new, 48-well plate. XTT activator and XTT reagent were then added in a 1:50 ratio and incubated at 37°C for 3 hours. After 3 hours, samples absorbance was determined using a SpectraMax M2e microplate reader (Molecular Devices, San Jose, CA) at 490nm with reference at 630nm.

Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was performed by using one-way analysis of variance or Student's t test using GraphPad Prism 7.0 software (GraphPad Software, La Jolla, CA). For more than 2 variables, a 2-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) was used followed by a Tukey's post-hoc test to determine significantly different groups. Data are presented as mean  $\pm$  standard error of the mean (SEM), and p < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

# Results

# Co-culture of THP-1-derived-M0 and M2 macrophages and WM cells increased the proliferation and viability of WM cells

M2 macrophages have demonstrated pro-tumorigenic affects in several other malignancies, although the influence of macrophage polarization in WM has not been investigated. To determine if M1 or M2 macrophages played a role in WM, we generated M0, M1, and M2 macrophages from THP-1 human monocytes as described in materials and methods and co-cultured them for 72 hours in direct contact with WM cell lines, BCWM.1, MWCL-1, and RPCI-WM1, and an XTT assay was performed to determine if there was a change in cell proliferation. Both M0 and M2 populations significantly increased the proliferation of WM cells, and co-culture with M1 macrophages either slightly decreased or did not affect proliferation (Figure 5A). To determine if M0, M1, or M2 macrophages influenced the viability of WM cells, M0, M1, and M2 macrophages were generated from THP-1 human monocytes and co-cultured with WM cell lines, BCWM.1, MWCL-1, and RPCI-WM1, for 72 hours. After 72 hours, the WM cells were harvested and counted via Trypan Blue exclusion. Both the M0 and M2 phenotypes increased the viability of WM cells after 3 days of co-culture, while the M1 phenotype did not affect cell viability (Figure 5B). To ensure that M1 and M2 macrophages were successfully polarized to their respective phenotypes, qPCR of these phenotypes was performed using known M1 and M2 markers. The M1 markers, CCL2 and IL-1ß, were used to confirm that M1 macrophages were successfully polarized (Figure 5C) and the M2 markers, CCL22 and CD206, were used to confirm that M2 macrophages were successfully polarized (Figure 5D).



**Figure 5. THP-1-derived M0 and M2 macrophages promote WM cell growth and survival.** M0, M1 or M2 macrophages were co-cultured with WM cell lines (BCWM.1, MWCL-1, or RPCI-WM1). (A) Relative proliferation of WM cells was measured via XTT assay after 72h of co-culture with M0, M1, or M2 macrophages. (B) Viability of WM cells was measured via Trypan Blue Exclusion after 72h of co-culture with M0, M1, or M2 phenotypes. qPCR was used to confirm THP-1 cells were successfully polarized into an (C) M1 phenotype or (D) M2 phenotype. These experiments were repeated at least 3 times and the results are presented as the average of 3 independent experiments, each performed in triplicate wells +/- SEM.

# Co-culture of CD14<sup>+</sup>-human peripheral blood-derived-M0 and M2 macrophages increased the proliferation and viability of WM cells

To confirm the results obtained using the THP-1 cell line, we utilized primary monocytes isolated from peripheral blood of healthy donors. Monocytes were isolated from total peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) using CD14<sup>+</sup> magnetic beads. These monocytes were then differentiated into macrophages (M0) as described in the methods section. M1 and M2 macrophages were differentiated similar to THP-1 cells. To confirm that M0 and M2 macrophages influenced the viability and proliferation of WM cells, we co-cultured M0, M1 and M2 cells for 72 hours in direct contact with WM cell lines, BCWM.1, MWCL-1, and RPCI-WM1. An XTT assay was performed to determine if there was a change in proliferation. Both M0 and M2 populations increased the proliferation of WM cells, and co-culture with M1 macrophages either slightly decreased or did not affect proliferation (Figure 6A and B). To determine if M0, M1, or M2 macrophages influenced the viability of WM cells, M0, M1, and M2 macrophages were generated from CD14<sup>+</sup>-human peripheral blood donors and co-cultured with WM cell lines, BCWM.1, MWCL-1, and RPCI-WM1, for 72 hours. After 72 hours, the WM cells were harvested and counted via Trypan Blue exclusion. Both the M0 and M2 phenotypes increased the viability of WM cells after co-culture, while the M1 phenotype did not increase the viability of WM cells (Figure 6C).



RPCI-MM1

Mo

4

+ RPCI-WM1

M2

human peripheral blood sample donors and macrophages were generated for co-culture with WM cells. Relative proliferation of WM cells was measured via XTT assay after 72h of co-culture with M0, M1, or M2 macrophages: (A) donor 1, (B) donor 2. (C) Viability of RPCI-WM1 cells after 72h of co-culture with M0, M1 or M2 macrophages was measured via Trypan Blue Exclusion. These experiments were repeated at least 3 times and the results are presented as the average of 3 independent experiments, each performed in triplicate wells +/- SEM.

# Co-culture with mouse bone marrow-derived- macrophages (BMDMs) increased the viability of WM cells

To confirm that M0 and M2 macrophages influence proliferation and viability, we generated M0, M1, and M2 macrophages from C57BL6/J bone marrow cells and co-cultured them for 72 hours in direct contact with WM cell lines, BCWM.1, MWCL-1, and RPCI-WM1. After 72 hours, the WM cells were harvested and counted via Trypan Blue exclusion. Both the M0 and M2 phenotypes increased the viability of WM cells after co-culture, while the M1 phenotype did not increase the viability (Figure 7A). To ensure that M1 and M2 macrophages were successfully polarized to their respective phenotypes, qPCR of these phenotypes was performed using known murine M1 and M2 markers. M1 markers, *iNos* and *Tnfa*, were used to confirm that M1 macrophages were successfully polarized (Figure 7B) and M2 markers, *Arg2* and *Cd163*, were used to confirm that M2 macrophages were successfully polarized (Figure 7C).



**Figure 7.** Bone marrow-derived macrophages were generated from C57BL/6J mice and co-cultured with WM cells. (A) Viability of WM cell lines were measured after 72h of co-culture with M0, M1, or M2 macrophages. qPCR was used to confirm C57BL/6J bone-marrow derived macrophages could successfully polarize to (B) M1 phenotype or (C) M2 phenotype. (D) qPCR of M2 genes was performed after 24h of co-culture of M0 macrophages and WM cells to confirm that WM cells influence macrophage polarization. These experiments were repeated at least 3 times and the results are presented as the average of 3 independent experiments, each performed in triplicate wells +/- SEM.

#### WM cells modulate macrophage polarization toward M2 phenotype.

Due to the increase of viability and proliferation of WM cells observed with co-culture with both M0 and M2 phenotypes, M0 macrophages were co-cultured with WM cell lines, BCWM.1, MWCL-1, and RPCI-WM1 for 24 hours to determine if the WM cells were influencing polarization towards an M2 phenotype. WM cells lines were removed and discarded after 24 hours, and macrophages were harvested for qPCR. qPCR for known M2 markers, *Arg2* and *Cd163*, were used to determine if M0 macrophages were transforming into an M2 phenotype because of WM cell influence. We found an increase in Cd163 expression in macrophages after co-culture with WM cells. However, although the pattern was consistent, this only reached statistical significance in M0 macrophages that were cocultured with MWCL-1 cells. This suggests that WM cells are causing a polarization of macrophages towards an M2 phenotype (Figure 7D).

### Indirect co-culture does not induce the polarization of macrophages

To assess if indirect co-culture would affect the polarization of macrophages, we generated M0 macrophages from C57BL6/J bone marrow cells and co-cultured them for 72 hours with supernatants from WM cell lines, BCWM.1, MWCL-1, and RPCI-WM1. After 72 hours, the macrophages were harvested, and qPCR was performed to look at M1 and M2 markers. Indirect co-culture did not have a polarizing effect on the macrophages towards an M2 phenotype (Figure 8A) or an M1 phenotype (Figure 8B).



Figure 8. Bone marrow-derived M0 macrophages were generated from C57BL/6J mice and indirectly co-cultured with WM supernatants. Indirect co-culture did not affect the polarization state of macrophages towards an M2 (A) or M1 phenotype (B). These experiments were repeated at least 3 times and the results are presented as the average of 3 independent experiments, each performed in triplicate wells +/- SEM.

# Gli3 is required for increased proliferation from direct co-culture of M0 macrophages and WM cells

In previous work, we have identified a novel role for the transcription factor Gli3 in regulating cytokine expression and secretion in response to LPS stimulation. We performed RNA-seq on macrophages derived from mice lacking Gli3 in myeloid cells (*M-Gli3<sup>-/-</sup>*) that were stimulated with LPS or DPBS (control). Using a generalized linear model in edgeR, we identified 495 genes with significant interaction effects in the absence of Gli3 upon LPS stimulation (Figure 9A). Interestingly, further analysis showed 25 inflammatory genes (Adipoq, Acacb, Nqo2, Tnfsf13, Lrrc8a, Tlr8, Rnf122, Cgas, Hmgn5, Rapgef3, Cd226, IL12b, CCl25, Mertk, Tnfrsf18, Tnfsf13b, Slc6a4, Cx3cl1, Ccl1, Fry, Sort1, Gstk1, Timd4, Ccne1, Trem2) being affected in the absence of Gli3 (Figure 9B). The 25 significant interaction genes on these pathways included 9 with a positive interaction and 16 with a negative interaction. Ingenuity Pathway Analysis of the interaction genes revealed "Inflammatory Response" and "Immune Cell Trafficking" pathways as most significantly enriched (Figure 9D).



**Figure 9.** RNA-seq on macrophages derived from *M-Gli3<sup>-/-</sup>* mice challenged with either LPS or DPBS was performed. 495 genes with significant interactions in the absence of Gli3 with LPS stimulation were identified (**A**). Further analysis showed 25 inflammatory genes that were affected in the absence of Gli3 (**B**). Ingenuity Pathway Analysis of the interaction genes revealed "Inflammatory Response" and "Immune Cell Trafficking" pathways as most significantly enriched. The 25 significant interaction genes on these pathways included 9 with a positive interaction and 16 with a negative interaction (**C**). Analysis suggested Gli3 may play a role in M2 macrophage polarization (**D**).

To address the possibility that Gli3 modulates macrophage polarization, bone marrowderived macrophages were isolated from C57BL/6J mice and M0 and M2 macrophages were generated followed by examination of Gli3 expression by qPCR. We found a significant increase in Gli3 expression in M2 macrophages compared with M0 macrophages. This suggests that Gli3 may play a role in macrophage polarization (Figure 10A). Next, bone marrow-derived macrophages were isolated from M-Gli3-/- and WT mice and M0 and M2 macrophages were generated in vitro and co-cultured with WM cell lines, BCWM.1 and MWCL-1. After 72 hours of co-culture, WM cell proliferation was determined using an XTT cell proliferation assay. We found that *M-Gli3<sup>-/-</sup>* M2 macrophages were unable increase the proliferation of BCWM.1 cells while WT M2 macrophages increased WM cell proliferation (Figure 10B). A similar observation was found when MWCL-1 cells were cocultured with *M-Gli3<sup>-/-</sup>* and *WT* M0 macrophages, however, this was not statistically significant (Figure 10B). While these results were obtained from cocultured experiments from 1 mouse per group, as these studies are replicated using additional mice, we will examine statistical significance again. Taken together, these results suggest that Gli3 is required for M2 polarization (Figure 10B).



Figure 10. Bone marrow-derived macrophages were generated from *Gli3<sup>-/-</sup>* mice and co-cultured with WM cells. (A) GLI3 gene expression was assessed via qPCR after polarization into M2 phenotype. (B) Relative proliferation of BCWM.1 and MWCL-1 cells was assessed via XTT assay after 72h of co-culture with WT or Gli3<sup>-/-</sup> M0 macrophages. These experiments were repeated at least 3 times and the results are presented as the average of 3 independent experiments, each performed in triplicate wells +/- SEM.

## Discussion

The WM tumor microenvironment consists of a collection of immune and non-immune cells, T-cells, B-cells, macrophages, myeloid-derived suppressor cells, mast cells, mesenchymal stem cells, osteoclasts, osteoblasts, natural killer cells, and dendritic cells [124]. The full pro- or anti-tumorigenic effects of these cells on the progression of WM is not quite complete, but some efforts have been made to quantify the effects of these cells in WM. Recently, reports on the role of mast cells, T-cells, monocytes, and endothelial cells in WM have been published. It has been previously demonstrated that mast cells in the bone marrow of WM patients induce proliferation of malignant B cells through CD40L and CD40 interactions [125]. T-cells have also been examined in WM and the expression of PD-1 and the ligands PD-L1 and PD-L2 have been characterized. PD-L1 and PD-L2 gene expression was induced by IL-21, interferon-y, and IL-6 expression in WM cell lines and patient bone marrow cells. Increased expression of PD-L1 and PD-L2 in the bone marrow of WM patients increased the proliferation of malignant B cells and reduced T-cell proliferation [126]. Bone marrow stromal cells (BMSC) are a heterogenous population that have been shown to play an important role in normal and malignant cell biology [127]. Mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) serve as the progenitor for most bone marrow stromal cell populations, including osteoblasts, chondrocytes, fibroblasts, endothelial cells, and myocytes [128]. In WM, BMSCs have been shown to regulate the proliferation of tumor cells while contributing to increased drug therapy resistance [129]. Endothelial cells have been shown to increase WM cell adhesion and proliferation through the Ephrin receptor B2 (Eph-B2), which is found upregulated on WM cells [130]. The Eph-B2 receptor was found to be activated in WM patients compared with healthy samples. Endothelial cells in the bone marrow express high levels of Ephrin-B2 ligand. Blocking of either Ephrin-B2 or Eph-B2 inhibited the increased

adhesion and proliferation caused by the endothelial-WM cell interaction [129]. Our research has shown that M0 and M2 macrophages increase the proliferation and viability of WM cells, playing a potent pro-tumorigenic role, which only adds to our knowledge of the WM tumor microenvironment. Future studies should investigate the presence of macrophages in the WM microenvironment and determine whether they are M1 or M2-like cells. By enumerating and understanding the role of these macrophages, better therapies may be used in combination with conventional therapies to achieve better clinical outcomes in WM patients.

The Gli family of proteins, Gli1, Gli2, and Gli3, have been shown to play a role in embryonic development and homeostasis of stem cells in normal tissues through hedgehog signaling. The role of Gli3 in development has been well-described. Gli3 plays a key regulatory role in preventing diseases such as Greig cephalopolysyndactyly syndrome, Pallister-Hall syndrome and tibial hemimelia [195]. Additionally, Gli3 has been shown to play a role in the development of the Dentate gyrus, hippocampus, and lungs. Several studies have also suggested a role for Gli3 in the immune system, specifically in B- and T-cell development, as well as the expression of CD155 on NK cells [198].

Additionally, studies have shown that Gli3 may play a role in regulating the inflammatory response. *WT* and *M-GLI3-/-* mice were challenged with LPS and peritoneal macrophages were isolated. *M-GLI3-/-* macrophages showed a reduction of LPS-induced CCL2, IL-6, and TNFα secretion in the absence of Gli3 [198]. This effect has been shown to be modulated through the TLR4/TRIF/IRF3 signaling axis.

The effect of Gli3 on macrophage polarization is a novel field of research. Gli3 has been shown to play a role in inflammation and in cancer development, but we now show that Gli3 plays a role in macrophage polarization and the subsequent pro-tumorigenic effects of M2 macrophages. Therefore, in addition to its role in embryonic development and in cancer, we now show a novel role for Gli3 in the development or differentiation of macrophages. This postulates that Gli3 may play a role in the differentiation of other immune cells such as B cells and T cells and future studies investigating the role of Gli3 in these cells may shed some light on this possibility.

While the effects of Gli3 on macrophage function have been primarily unknown previous to this study, mounting evidence has supported that one of the main immunosuppressive roles of the Hedgehog pathway is the polarization of macrophages toward the M2 phenotype. In a breast cancer mouse model, M2 macrophage polarization was reduced upon the inhibition of the Hh signalling pathway [199]. Furthermore, the inhibition of Hh signaling influenced the polarization of M2 macrophages back towards their inflammatory counterpart, M1, indicating a potential therapeutic target for treating tumor-associated macrophage polarization. Another study investigating the role of Gli1, Gli2, and Gli3 in pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma showed that the genetic depletion of Gli1, Gli2, and Gli3 promoted M2 macrophage infiltration, indicating that Gli1 may be responsible for increased M2 populations, while Gli2 and Gli3 are responsible for decreasing the M2 population [200]. Additionally, we discovered that Gli3 is required for M2 macrophages to exert its proliferative effects on WM cells, and without Gli3, we do not see an increase in WM cell proliferation.

Due to the abnormal B-cell receptor signalling in disease progression in WM, Bruton's Tyrosine Kinase (BTK) inhibitors have proved successful in treating these malignancies [89]. BTK inhibitors work by blocking BTK activation, therefore inhibiting NF-κB and MAP kinase activation, leading to reduced survivability and proliferation. Ibrutinib and Zanubrutinib are the

only two FDA-approved treatment options for WM and are both BTK inhibitors. In a phase 1/2study of patients with WM, either treatment naïve or relapsed/refractory, the overall response rate was 95.9% at 36 months post-treatment initiation for Zanubrutinib treatment [201]. In a randomized phase 3 trial of Zanubrutinib versus Ibrutinib in WM, patients with MYD88 L265P disease were randomly assigned to treatment with Ibrutinib or Zanubrutinib. More patients in the Zanubrutinib group (28%) versus the Ibrutinib group (19%) achieved a very good partial response, and side effects of BTKi therapy, including contusion, diarrhea, edema, atrial fibrillation, and other adverse effects leading to treatment discontinuation were lower in Zanubrutinib patients versus Ibrutinib [203]. The full mechanism of action of ibrutinib has yet to be fully investigated and has shown to impact tumor-associated macrophages. In a study, Ibrutinib treatment suppresses the production of CXCL12, CXCL13, CCL19 and VEGF by TAMs. Additionally, ibrutinib did not impact the viability of TAMs, but did significantly decrease the macrophage-dependent adhesion, invasion, and migration of malignant cells. This indicates that the therapeutic effects of ibrutinib may be linked to both direct cytotoxic effects of malignant cells and immunomodulatory effects on TAMs [202]. Zanubrutinib, however, has been shown to promote M2 macrophage activation through the regulation of the JAK/STAT6 and PI3K/AKT pathways. In a study of LPS-induced acute lung injury, it was found that zanubrutinib could inhibit M1 polarization and encourage M2 polarization via inhibition of JAK2/STAT1 and TLR4/MyD88/NF-kB signalling pathways and the activation of STAT6 and PI3K/Akt signaling pathways [203].

This data is critical to further influence and inform tumor-associated macrophage-related research in WM, which could lead to an increased understanding of the WM tumor microenvironment and aid diagnosis and treatment in WM patients.

#### Works Cited

- 1. Wang, N.; Liang, H.; Zen, K. Molecular Mechanisms That Influence the Macrophage M1– M2 Polarization Balance. Front. Immunol. 2014, 5. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2014.00614
- Dijkgraaf, E. M.; Heusinkveld, M.; Tummers, B.; Vogelpoel, L. T. C.; Goedemans, R.; Jha, V.; Nortier, J. W. R.; Welters, M. J. P.; Kroep, J. R.; Burg, S. H. van der. Chemotherapy Alters Monocyte Differentiation to Favor Generation of Cancer-Supporting M2 Macrophages in the Tumor Microenvironment. Cancer Res 2013, 73 (8), 2480–2492. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-12-3542.
- 3. Fujiwara, N.; Kobayashi, K. Macrophages in Inflammation. Current Drug Targets Inflammation & Allergy 2005, 4 (3), 281–286. <u>https://doi.org/10.2174/1568010054022024</u>.
- 4. Wynn, T. A.; Chawla, A.; Pollard, J. W. Macrophage Biology in Development, Homeostasis and Disease. Nature 2013, 496 (7446), 445–455. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nature12034</u>.
- 5. Allavena, P.; Sica, A.; Solinas, G.; Porta, C.; Mantovani, A. The Inflammatory Micro-Environment in Tumor Progression: The Role of Tumor-Associated Macrophages. Critical Reviews in Oncology/Hematology 2008, 66 (1), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.critrevonc.2007.07.004.
- 6. Gordy, C.; Pua, H.; Sempowski, G. D.; He, Y.-W. Regulation of Steady-State Neutrophil Homeostasis by Macrophages. Blood 2011, 117 (2), 618–629. <u>https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2010-01-265959</u>.
- Goren, I.; Allmann, N.; Nir, Y.; Schürmann, C.; Linke, A.; Holdener, M.; Waisman, A.; Pfeilschifter, J.; Frank, S. A Transgenic Mouse Model of Inducible Macrophage Depletion: Effects of Diphtheria Toxin-Driven Lysozyme M-Specific Cell Lineage Ablation on Wound Inflammatory, Angiogenic, and Contractive Processes. The American Journal of Pathology 2009, 175 (1), 132–147. <u>https://doi.org/10.2353/ajpath.2009.081002</u>.
- 8. Oishi, Y.; Manabe, I. Macrophages in Inflammation, Repair and Regeneration. International Immunology 2018, 30 (11), 511–528. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/intimm/dxy054</u>.
- 9. Kawane, K.; Fukuyama, H.; Kondoh, G.; Takeda, J.; Ohsawa, Y.; Uchiyama, Y.; Nagata, S. Requirement of DNase II for Definitive Erythropoiesis in the Mouse Fetal Liver. Science 2001, 292 (5521), 1546–1549.
- Jaiswal, S.; Jamieson, C. H. M.; Pang, W. W.; Park, C. Y.; Chao, M. P.; Majeti, R.; Traver, D.; Rooijen, N. van; Weissman, I. L. CD47 Is Upregulated on Circulating Hematopoietic Stem Cells and Leukemia Cells to Avoid Phagocytosis. Cell 2009, 138 (2), 271–285. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2009.05.046</u>.
- Borisenko, G. G.; Matsura, T.; Liu, S.-X.; Tyurin, V. A.; Jianfei, J.; Serinkan, F. B.; Kagan, V. E. Macrophage Recognition of Externalized Phosphatidylserine and Phagocytosis of Apoptotic Jurkat Cells—Existence of a Threshold. Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics 2003, 413 (1), 41–52. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0003-9861(03)00083-3</u>.
- He, H.; Mack, J. J.; Güç, E.; Warren, C. M.; Squadrito, M. L.; Kilarski, W. W.; Baer, C.; Freshman, R. D.; McDonald, A. I.; Ziyad, S.; Swartz, M. A.; De Palma, M.; Iruela-Arispe, M. L. Perivascular Macrophages Limit Permeability. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2016, 36 (11), 2203–2212. <u>https://doi.org/10.1161/ATVBAHA.116.307592</u>.
- Stefanowski, J.; Lang, A.; Rauch, A.; Aulich, L.; Köhler, M.; Fiedler, A. F.; Buttgereit, F.; Schmidt-Bleek, K.; Duda, G. N.; Gaber, T.; Niesner, R. A.; Hauser, A. E. Spatial Distribution of Macrophages During Callus Formation and Maturation Reveals Close Crosstalk Between Macrophages and Newly Forming Vessels. Front. Immunol. 2019, 10, 2588. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2019.02588</u>.

- 14. Nucera, S.; Biziato, D.; De Palma, M. The Interplay between Macrophages and Angiogenesis in Development, Tissue Injury and Regeneration. Int. J. Dev. Biol. 2011, 55 (4–5), 495–503. https://doi.org/10.1387/ijdb.103227sn.
- 15. Squadrito, M. L.; De Palma, M. Macrophage Regulation of Tumor Angiogenesis: Implications for Cancer Therapy. *Molecular Aspects of Medicine* **2011**, *32* (2), 123–145. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mam.2011.04.005</u>.
- Haywood, L.; McWilliams, D. F.; Pearson, C. I.; Gill, S. E.; Ganesan, A.; Wilson, D.; Walsh, D. A. Inflammation and Angiogenesis in Osteoarthritis. Arthritis & Rheumatism 2003, 48 (8), 2173–2177. https://doi.org/10.1002/art.11094.
- Rao, S.; Lobov, I. B.; Vallance, J. E.; Tsujikawa, K.; Shiojima, I.; Akunuru, S.; Walsh, K.; Benjamin, L. E.; Lang, R. A. Obligatory Participation of Macrophages in an Angiopoietin 2-Mediated Cell Death Switch. Development 2007, 134 (24), 4449–4458. https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.012187.
- Stefater, J. A.; Lewkowich, I.; Rao, S.; Mariggi, G.; Carpenter, A. C.; Burr, A. R.; Fan, J.; Ajima, R.; Molkentin, J. D.; Williams, B. O.; Wills-Karp, M.; Pollard, J.; Yamaguchi, T.; Ferrara, N.; Gerhardt, H.; Lang, R. A. Regulation of Angiogenesis by a Non-Canonical Wnt-Flt1 Pathway in Myeloid Cells. Nature 2011, 474 (7352), 511–515. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature10085.
- Gordon, E. J.; Rao, S.; Pollard, J. W.; Nutt, S. L.; Lang, R. A.; Harvey, N. L. Macrophages Define Dermal Lymphatic Vessel Calibre during Development by Regulating Lymphatic Endothelial Cell Proliferation. Development 2010, 137 (22), 3899–3910. <u>https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.050021</u>.
- 20. Wang, X.; Liu, Z.; Sun, J.; Song, X.; Bian, M.; Wang, F.; Yan, F.; Yu, Z. Inhibition of NADPH Oxidase 4 Attenuates Lymphangiogenesis and Tumor Metastasis in Breast Cancer. FASEB j. 2021, 35 (4). <u>https://doi.org/10.1096/fj.202002533R</u>.
- Austyn, J. M.; Gordon, S. F4/80, a Monoclonal Antibody Directed Specifically against the Mouse Macrophage. European Journal of Immunology 1981, 11 (10), 805–815. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/eji.1830111013</u>.
- 22. Khazen, W.; M'Bika, J.-P.; Tomkiewicz, C.; Benelli, C.; Chany, C.; Achour, A.; Forest. Expression of Macrophage-Selective Markers in Human and Rodent Adipocytes. FEBS Letters 2005, 579 (25), 5631–5634. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.febslet.2005.09.032</u>.
- 23. Barros, M. H. M.; Hauck, F.; Dreyer, J. H.; Kempkes, B.; Niedobitek, G. Macrophage Polarisation: An Immunohistochemical Approach for Identifying M1 and M2 Macrophages. PLOS ONE 2013, 8 (11), e80908. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0080908.
- 24. Holness, C.; Simmons, D. Molecular Cloning of CD68, a Human Macrophage Marker Related to Lysosomal Glycoproteins. Blood 1993, 81 (6), 1607–1613. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood.V81.6.1607.1607.
- Stöger, J. L.; Gijbels, M. J. J.; van der Velden, S.; Manca, M.; van der Loos, C. M.; Biessen, E. A. L.; Daemen, M. J. A. P.; Lutgens, E.; de Winther, M. P. J. Distribution of Macrophage Polarization Markers in Human Atherosclerosis. Atherosclerosis 2012, 225 (2), 461–468. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2012.09.013.
- Xu, N.; Tang, X.-H.; Pan, W.; Xie, Z.-M.; Zhang, G.-F.; Ji, M.-H.; Yang, J.-J.; Zhou, M.-T.; Zhou, Z.-Q. Spared Nerve Injury Increases the Expression of Microglia M1 Markers in the Prefrontal Cortex of Rats and Provokes Depression-Like Behaviors. Front. Neurosci. 2017, 11. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2017.00209</u>.
- Gensel, J. C.; Kopper, T. J.; Zhang, B.; Orr, M. B.; Bailey, W. M. Predictive Screening of M1 and M2 Macrophages Reveals the Immunomodulatory Effectiveness of Post Spinal Cord Injury Azithromycin Treatment. Scientific Reports 2017, 7 (1), 40144. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/srep40144</u>.

- Wang, Y.; Zhang, Y.; Wang, Z.; Zhang, J.; Qiao, R. R.; Xu, M.; Yang, N.; Gao, L.; Qiao, H.; Gao, M.; Cao, F. Optical/MRI Dual-Modality Imaging of M1 Macrophage Polarization in Atherosclerotic Plaque with MARCO-Targeted Upconversion Luminescence Probe. Biomaterials 2019, 219, 119378. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2019.119378</u>.
- 29. Jablonski, K. A.; Amici, S. A.; Webb, L. M.; Ruiz-Rosado, J. de D.; Popovich, P. G.; Partida-Sanchez, S.; Guerau-de-Arellano, M. Novel Markers to Delineate Murine M1 and M2 Macrophages. PLOS ONE 2015, 10 (12), e0145342. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0145342.
- Jaguin, M.; Houlbert, N.; Fardel, O.; Lecureur, V. Polarization Profiles of Human M-CSF-Generated Macrophages and Comparison of M1-Markers in Classically Activated Macrophages from GM-CSF and M-CSF Origin. Cell Immunol 2013, 281 (1), 51–61. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cellimm.2013.01.010.
- Rőszer, T. Understanding the Mysterious M2 Macrophage through Activation Markers and Effector Mechanisms https://www.hindawi.com/journals/mi/2015/816460/ (accessed May 6, 2021). <u>https://doi.org/10.1155/2015/816460</u>.
- Yeung, O. W. H.; Lo, C.-M.; Ling, C.-C.; Qi, X.; Geng, W.; Li, C.-X.; Ng, K. T. P.; Forbes, S. J.; Guan, X.-Y.; Poon, R. T. P.; Fan, S.-T.; Man, K. Alternatively Activated (M2) Macrophages Promote Tumour Growth and Invasiveness in Hepatocellular Carcinoma. J Hepatol 2015, 62 (3), 607–616. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhep.2014.10.029</u>.
- Sindrilaru, A.; Peters, T.; Wieschalka, S.; Baican, C.; Baican, A.; Peter, H.; Hainzl, A.; Schatz, S.; Qi, Y.; Schlecht, A.; Weiss, J. M.; Wlaschek, M.; Sunderkötter, C.; Scharffetter-Kochanek, K. An Unrestrained Proinflammatory M1 Macrophage Population Induced by Iron Impairs Wound Healing in Humans and Mice. J Clin Invest 2011, 121 (3), 985–997. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI44490.
- Verreck, F. A. W.; Boer, T. de; Langenberg, D. M. L.; Hoeve, M. A.; Kramer, M.; Vaisberg, E.; Kastelein, R.; Kolk, A.; Waal-Malefyt, R. de; Ottenhoff, T. H. M. Human IL-23-Producing Type 1 Macrophages Promote but IL-10-Producing Type 2 Macrophages Subvert Immunity to (Myco)Bacteria. PNAS 2004, 101 (13), 4560–4565. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0400983101.
- 35. Bouhlel, M. A.; Derudas, B.; Rigamonti, E.; Diévart, R.; Brozek, J.; Haulon, S.; Zawadski, C.; Jude, B.; Topier, G.; Marx, N.; Staels, B.; Chinetti-Gbaguidi, G. PPARγ Activation Primes Human Monocytes into Alternative M2 Macrophages with Anti-Inflammatory Properties. Cell Metabolism 2007, 6 (2), 137–143. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2007.06.010</u>.
- Orecchioni, M.; Ghosheh, Y.; Pramod, A. B.; Ley, K. Macrophage Polarization: Different Gene Signatures in M1(LPS+) vs. Classically and M2(LPS-) vs. Alternatively Activated Macrophages. Front. Immunol. 2019, 10, 1084. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2019.01084.
- 37. Murray, P. J. Macrophage Polarization. Annu. Rev. Physiol. 2017, 79 (1), 541–566. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-physiol-022516-034339.
- 38. Cohen, H. B.; Mosser, D. M. Extrinsic and Intrinsic Control of Macrophage Inflammatory Responses. Journal of Leukocyte Biology 2013, 94 (5), 913–919. https://doi.org/10.1189/jlb.0413236.
- Rutschman, R.; Lang, R.; Hesse, M.; Ihle, J. N.; Wynn, T. A.; Murray, P. J. Cutting Edge: Stat6-Dependent Substrate Depletion Regulates Nitric Oxide Production. The Journal of Immunology 2001, 166 (4), 2173–2177. <u>https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.166.4.2173</u>.
- 40. Covarrubias, A. J.; Aksoylar, H. I.; Horng, T. Control of Macrophage Metabolism and Activation by MTOR and Akt Signaling. Seminars in Immunology 2015, 27 (4), 286–296. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.smim.2015.08.001.
- 41. Arranz, A.; Doxaki, C.; Vergadi, E.; Torre, Y. M. de la; Vaporidi, K.; Lagoudaki, E. D.; Ieronymaki, E.; Androulidaki, A.; Venihaki, M.; Margioris, A. N.; Stathopoulos, E. N.;

Tsichlis, P. N.; Tsatsanis, C. Akt1 and Akt2 Protein Kinases Differentially Contribute to Macrophage Polarization. PNAS 2012, 109 (24), 9517–9522. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1119038109.

- 42. Fukao, T.; Koyasu, S. PI3K and Negative Regulation of TLR Signaling. Trends in Immunology 2003, 24 (7), 358–363. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S1471-4906(03)00139-X</u>.
- Zheng, C.; Yang, Q.; Xu, C.; Shou, P.; Cao, J.; Jiang, M.; Chen, Q.; Cao, G.; Han, Y.; Li, F.; Cao, W.; Zhang, L.; Zhang, L.; Shi, Y.; Wang, Y. CD11b Regulates Obesity-Induced Insulin Resistance via Limiting Alternative Activation and Proliferation of Adipose Tissue Macrophages. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2015, 112 (52), E7239-7248. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1500396113</u>.
- 44. Rauh, M. J.; Ho, V.; Pereira, C.; Sham, A.; Lam, V.; Huxham, L.; Minchinton, A. I.; Mui, A.; Krystal, G. SHIP Represses the Generation of Alternatively Activated Macrophages. Immunity 2005, 23 (4), 361–374. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2005.09.003</u>.
- 45. Yue, S.; Rao, J.; Zhu, J.; Busuttil, R. W.; Kupiec-Weglinski, J. W.; Lu, L.; Wang, X.; Zhai, Y. Myeloid PTEN Deficiency Protects Livers from Ischemia Reperfusion Injury by Facilitating M2 Macrophage Differentiation. J Immunol 2014, 192 (11), 5343–5353. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.1400280.
- Kratochvill, F.; Neale, G.; Haverkamp, J. M.; Velde, L. A. V. de; Smith, A. M.; Kawauchi, D.; McEvoy, J.; Roussel, M. F.; Dyer, M. A.; Qualls, J. E.; Murray, P. J. TNF Counterbalances the Emergence of M2 Tumor Macrophages. Cell reports 2015, 12 (11), 1902–1914. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2015.08.033.
- Murdoch, C.; Muthana, M.; Lewis, C. E. Hypoxia Regulates Macrophage Functions in Inflammation. J Immunol 2005, 175 (10), 6257–6263. <u>https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.175.10.6257</u>.
- Liu, Y.; Yan, W.; Tohme, S.; Chen, M.; Fu, Y.; Tian, D.; Lotze, M.; Tang, D.; Tsung, A. Hypoxia Induced HMGB1 and Mitochondrial DNA Interactions Mediate Tumor Growth in Hepatocellular Carcinoma through Toll-like Receptor 9. Journal of Hepatology 2015, 63 (1), 114–121. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhep.2015.02.009</u>.
- 49. Gebhardt, C.; Riehl, A.; Durchdewald, M.; Németh, J.; Fürstenberger, G.; Müller-Decker, K.; Enk, A.; Arnold, B.; Bierhaus, A.; Nawroth, P. P.; Hess, J.; Angel, P. RAGE Signaling Sustains Inflammation and Promotes Tumor Development. Journal of Experimental Medicine 2008, 205 (2), 275–285. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20070679.
- Mittal, D.; Saccheri, F.; Vénéreau, E.; Pusterla, T.; Bianchi, M. E.; Rescigno, M. TLR4-Mediated Skin Carcinogenesis Is Dependent on Immune and Radioresistant Cells. EMBO J 2010, 29 (13), 2242–2252. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/emboj.2010.94</u>.
- 51. Huber, R.; Meier, B.; Otsuka, A.; Fenini, G.; Satoh, T.; Gehrke, S.; Widmer, D.; Levesque, M. P.; Mangana, J.; Kerl, K.; Gebhardt, C.; Fujii, H.; Nakashima, C.; Nonomura, Y.; Kabashima, K.; Dummer, R.; Contassot, E.; French, L. E. Tumour Hypoxia Promotes Melanoma Growth and Metastasis via High Mobility Group Box-1 and M2-like Macrophages. Sci Rep 2016, 6 (1), 29914. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep29914.
- 52. Laviron, M.; Boissonnas, A. Ontogeny of Tumor-Associated Macrophages. Front. Immunol. 2019, 10, 1799. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2019.01799</u>
- Mondini, M.; Loyher, P.-L.; Hamon, P.; Gerbé de Thoré, M.; Laviron, M.; Berthelot, K.; Clémenson, C.; Salomon, B. L.; Combadière, C.; Deutsch, E.; Boissonnas, A. CCR2-Dependent Recruitment of Tregs and Monocytes Following Radiotherapy Is Associated with TNFα-Mediated Resistance. Cancer Immunol Res 2019, 7 (3), 376–387. <u>https://doi.org/10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-18-0633</u>.
- 54. Kalbasi, A.; Komar, C.; Tooker, G. M.; Liu, M.; Lee, J. W.; Gladney, W. L.; Ben-Josef, E.; Beatty, G. L. Tumor-Derived CCL2 Mediates Resistance to Radiotherapy in Pancreatic Ductal

Adenocarcinoma. Clin Cancer Res 2017, 23 (1), 137–148. <u>https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-16-0870</u>.

- 55. Zhu, Y.; Herndon, J. M.; Sojka, D. K.; Kim, K.-W.; Knolhoff, B. L.; Zuo, C.; Cullinan, D. R.; Luo, J.; Bearden, A. R.; Lavine, K. J.; Yokoyama, W. M.; Hawkins, W. G.; Fields, R. C.; Randolph, G. J.; DeNardo, D. G. Tissue-Resident Macrophages in Pancreatic Ductal Adenocarcinoma Originate from Embryonic Hematopoiesis and Promote Tumor Progression. Immunity 2017, 47 (2), 323-338.e6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2017.07.014.
- Bain, C. C.; Hawley, C. A.; Garner, H.; Scott, C. L.; Schridde, A.; Steers, N. J.; Mack, M.; Joshi, A.; Guilliams, M.; Mowat, A. M. I.; Geissmann, F.; Jenkins, S. J. Long-Lived Self-Renewing Bone Marrow-Derived Macrophages Displace Embryo-Derived Cells to Inhabit Adult Serous Cavities. Nature Communications 2016, 7 (1), ncomms11852. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms11852.
- Gibbings, S. L.; Goyal, R.; Desch, A. N.; Leach, S. M.; Prabagar, M.; Atif, S. M.; Bratton, D. L.; Janssen, W.; Jakubzick, C. V. Transcriptome Analysis Highlights the Conserved Difference between Embryonic and Postnatal-Derived Alveolar Macrophages. Blood 2015, 126 (11), 1357–1366. <u>https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2015-01-624809</u>.
- van de Laar, L.; Saelens, W.; De Prijck, S.; Martens, L.; Scott, C.; Van Isterdael, G.; Hoffmann, E.; Beyaert, R.; Saeys, Y.; Lambrecht, B.; Guilliams, M. Yolk Sac Macrophages, Fetal Liver, and Adult Monocytes Can Colonize an Empty Niche and Develop into Functional Tissue-Resident Macrophages. Immunity 2016, 44 (4), 755–768. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2016.02.017.
- Torisu, H.; Ono, M.; Kiryu, H.; Furue, M.; Ohmoto, Y.; Nakayama, J.; Nishioka, Y.; Sone, S.; Kuwano, M. Macrophage Infiltration Correlates with Tumor Stage and Angiogenesis in Human Malignant Melanoma: Possible Involvement of TNFalpha and IL-1alpha. Int J Cancer 2000, 85 (2), 182–188.
- 60. Mosser, D. M.; Edwards, J. P. Exploring the Full Spectrum of Macrophage Activation. Nat Rev Immunol 2008, 8 (12), 958–969. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nri2448</u>.
- 61. Fan, Z.; Yu, P.; Wang, Y.; Wang, Y.; Fu, M. L.; Liu, W.; Sun, Y.; Fu, Y.-X. NK-Cell Activation by LIGHT Triggers Tumor-Specific CD8+ T-Cell Immunity to Reject Established Tumors. Blood 2006, 107 (4), 1342–1351. <u>https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2005-08-3485</u>.
- 62. Hadrup, S.; Donia, M.; thor Straten, P. Effector CD4 and CD8 T Cells and Their Role in the Tumor Microenvironment. Cancer Microenvironment 2013, 6 (2), 123–133. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12307-012-0127-6.
- 63. Susek, K. H.; Karvouni, M.; Alici, E.; Lundqvist, A. The Role of CXC Chemokine Receptors 1–4 on Immune Cells in the Tumor Microenvironment. Front. Immunol. 2018, 9, 2159. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2018.02159.
- Zhang, M.; He, Y.; Sun, X.; Li, Q.; Wang, W.; Zhao, A.; Di, W. A High M1/M2 Ratio of Tumor-Associated Macrophages Is Associated with Extended Survival in Ovarian Cancer Patients. Journal of Ovarian Research 2014, 7 (1), 19. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1757-2215-7-19</u>.
- Lopez-Gonzalez, J. S.; Avila-Moreno, F.; Prado-Garcia, H.; Aguilar-Cazares, D.; Mandoki, J. J.; Meneses-Flores, M. Lung Carcinomas Decrease the Number of Monocytes/Macrophages (CD14+ Cells) That Produce TNF-Alpha. Clin Immunol 2007, 122 (3), 323–329. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clim.2006.11.003
- 66. Ma, J.; Liu, L.; Che, G.; Yu, N.; Dai, F.; You, Z. The M1 Form of Tumor-Associated Macrophages in Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer Is Positively Associated with Survival Time. BMC Cancer 2010, 10 (1), 112. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2407-10-112.
- 67. Jackute, J.; Zemaitis, M.; Pranys, D.; Sitkauskiene, B.; Miliauskas, S.; Vaitkiene, S.; Sakalauskas, R. Distribution of M1 and M2 Macrophages in Tumor Islets and Stroma in

Relation to Prognosis of Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer. BMC Immunol 2018, 19 (1), 3. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12865-018-0241-4

- 68. Edin, S.; Wikberg, M. L.; Oldenborg, P.-A.; Palmqvist, R. Macrophages: Good Guys in Colorectal Cancer. OncoImmunology 2013, 2 (2), e23038. <u>https://doi.org/10.4161/onci.23038</u>
- 69. Zhang, M.; He, Y.; Sun, X.; Li, Q.; Wang, W.; Zhao, A.; Di, W. A High M1/M2 Ratio of Tumor-Associated Macrophages Is Associated with Extended Survival in Ovarian Cancer Patients. J Ovarian Res 2014, 7 (1), 19. https://doi.org/10.1186/1757-2215-7-19.
- Guo, L.; Cheng, X.; Chen, H.; Chen, C.; Xie, S.; Zhao, M.; Liu, D.; Deng, Q.; Liu, Y.; Wang, X.; Chen, X.; Wang, J.; Yin, Z.; Qi, S.; Gao, J.; Ma, Y.; Guo, N.; Shi, M. Induction of Breast Cancer Stem Cells by M1 Macrophages through Lin-28B-Let-7-HMGA2 Axis. Cancer Letters 2019, 452, 213–225. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.canlet.2019.03.032</u>.
- Alves, A. M.; Diel, L. F.; Lamers, M. L. Macrophages and Prognosis of Oral Squamous Cell Carcinoma: A Systematic Review. J Oral Pathol Med 2018, 47 (5), 460–467. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jop.12643</u>.
- 72. Kovaleva, O. V.; Samoilova, D. V.; Shitova, M. S.; Gratchev, A. Tumor Associated Macrophages in Kidney Cancer. Analytical Cellular Pathology 2016, 2016, 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1155/2016/9307549.
- Falleni, M.; Savi, F.; Tosi, D.; Agape, E.; Cerri, A.; Moneghini, L.; Bulfamante, G. P. M1 and M2 Macrophages' Clinicopathological Significance in Cutaneous Melanoma. Melanoma Research 2017, 27 (3), 200–210. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/CMR.00000000000352</u>.
- Zhang, M.; He, Y.; Sun, X.; Li, Q.; Wang, W.; Zhao, A.; Di, W. A High M1/M2 Ratio of Tumor-Associated Macrophages Is Associated with Extended Survival in Ovarian Cancer Patients. J Ovarian Res 2014, 7 (1), 19. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1757-2215-7-19</u>.
- Talmadge, J. E.; Donkor, M.; Scholar, E. Inflammatory Cell Infiltration of Tumors: Jekyll or Hyde. Cancer and Me-tastasis Review 2007, 26 (3–4), 373–400. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10555-007-9072-0</u>.
- 76. Sica, A.; Mantovani, A. Macrophage Plasticity and Polarization: In Vivo Veritas. J Clin Invest 2012, 122 (3), 787–795. <u>https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI59643</u>.
- 77. Xu, F.; Wei, Y.; Tang, Z.; Liu, B.; Dong, J. Tumor associated Macrophages in Lung Cancer: Friend or Foe? (Review). Molecular Medicine Reports 2020, 22 (5), 4107–4115. https://doi.org/10.3892/mmr.2020.11518.
- Allavena, P.; Mantovani, A. Immunology in the Clinic Review Series; Focus on Cancer: Tumour-Associated Macrophages: Undisputed Stars of the Inflammatory Tumour Microenvironment. Clin Exp Immunol 2012, 167 (2), 195–205. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2249.2011.04515.x.
- 79. Krishnan, V.; Schaar, B.; Tallapragada, S.; Dorigo, O. Tumor Associated Macrophages in Gynecologic Cancers. Gynecologic oncology 2018.
- 80. Gupta, V.; Yull, F.; Khabele, D. Bipolar Tumor-Associated Macrophages in Ovarian Cancer as Targets for Therapy. Cancers (Basel) 2018, 10 (10). https://doi.org/10.3390/cancers10100366.
- Raggi, C.; Mousa, H. S.; Correnti, M.; Sica, A.; Invernizzi, P. Cancer Stem Cells and Tumor-Associated Macrophages: A Roadmap for Multitargeting Strategies. Oncogene 2016, 35 (6), 671–683.
- Komohara, Y.; Fujiwara, Y.; Ohnishi, K.; Takeya, M. Tumor-Associated Macrophages: Potential Therapeutic Targets for Anti-Cancer Therapy. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 2016, 99 (Pt B), 180–185. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addr.2015.11.009</u>.
- 83. Parker, K. H.; Sinha, P.; Horn, L. A.; Clements, V. K.; Yang, H.; Li, J.; Tracey, K. J.; Ostrand-Rosenberg, S. HMGB1 Enhances Immune Suppression by Facilitating the Differentiation and

Suppressive Activity of Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cells. Cancer Res 2014, 74 (20), 5723–5733. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-13-2347.

- Columba-Cabezas, S.; Serafini, B.; Ambrosini, E.; Sanchez, M.; Penna, G.; Adorini, L.; Aloisi, F. Induction of Macrophage-Derived Chemokine/CCL22 Expression in Experimental Autoimmune Encephalomyelitis and Cultured Microglia: Implications for Disease Regulation. Journal of neuroimmunology 2002, 130 (1–2), 10–21. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0165-5728(02)00170-4.
- 85. Bloch, O.; Crane, C. A.; Kaur, R.; Safaee, M.; Rutkowski, M. J.; Parsa, A. T. Gliomas Promote Immunosuppression through Induction of B7-H1 Expression in Tumor-Associated Macrophages. Clin Cancer Res 2013, 19 (12), 3165–3175. <u>https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-12-3314</u>.
- 86. Matsunaga, T.; Saito, H.; Ikeguchi, M. Increased B7-H1 and B7-H4 Expressions on Circulating Monocytes and Tumor-Associated Macrophages Are Involved in Immune Evasion in Patients with Gastric Cancer. Yonago Acta Med 2011, 54 (1), 1–10.
- Anderson, K. M.; Czinn, S. J.; Redline, R. W.; Blanchard, T. G. Induction of CTLA-4-Mediated Anergy Contributes to Persistent Colonization in the Murine Model of Gastric Helicobacter Pylori Infection. The Journal of Immunology 2006, 176 (9), 5306–5313. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.176.9.5306.
- Bloch, O.; Crane, C. A.; Kaur, R.; Safaee, M.; Rutkowski, M. J.; Parsa, A. T. Gliomas Promote Immunosuppression through Induction of B7-H1 Expression in Tumor-Associated Macrophages. Clin Cancer Res 2013, 19 (12), 3165-3175. https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-12-3314.
- Jeong, H.; Kim, S.; Hong, B.-J.; Lee, C.-J.; Kim, Y.-E.; Bok, S.; Oh, J.-M.; Gwak, S.-H.; Yoo, M. Y.; Lee, M. S.; Chung, S.-J.; Defrêne, J.; Tessier, P.; Pelletier, M.; Jeon, H.; Roh, T.-Y.; Kim, B.; Kim, K. H.; Ju, J. H.; Kim, S.; Lee, Y.-J.; Kim, D.-W.; Kim, I. H.; Kim, H. J.; Park, J.-W.; Lee, Y.-S.; Lee, J. S.; Cheon, G. J.; Weissman, I. L.; Chung, D. H.; Jeon, Y. K.; Ahn, G.-O. Tumor-Associated Macrophages Enhance Tumor Hypoxia and Aerobic Glycolysis. Cancer Res 2019, canres.2545.2018. <u>https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-18-2545</u>.
- Obermajer, N.; Muthuswamy, R.; Odunsi, K.; Edwards, R. P.; Kalinski, P. PGE2-Induced CXCL12 Production and CXCR4 Expression Controls the Accumulation of Human MDSCs in Ovarian Cancer Environment. Cancer Res 2011, 71 (24), 7463–7470. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-11-2449.
- Kzhyshkowska, J.; Riabov, V.; Gudima, A.; Wang, N.; Orekhov, A.; Mickley, A. Role of Tumor Associated Macrophages in Tumor Angiogenesis and Lymphangiogenesis. Front. Physiol. 2014, 5. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2014.00075</u>.
- 92. Mitsudomi, T.; Yatabe, Y. Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor in Relation to Tumor Development: EGFR Gene and Cancer. The FEBS Journal 2010, 277 (2), 301–308. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1742-4658.2009.07448.x.
- 93. Turner, N.; Grose, R. Fibroblast Growth Factor Signalling: From Development to Cancer. Nat Rev Cancer 2010, 10 (2), 116–129. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nrc2780</u>.
- 94. Gold, L.I. The role for transforming growth factor-beta (TGF-beta) in human cancer. Critical Reviews in Oncogenesis 1999, 10, 303-360.
- 95. Mazzone, M.; Bergers, G. Regulation of Blood and Lymphatic Vessels by Immune Cells in Tumors and Metastasis. Annu. Rev. Physiol. 2019, 81 (1), 535–560. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-physiol-020518-114721.
- Jeong, H.; Kim, S.; Hong, B.-J.; Lee, C.-J.; Kim, Y.-E.; Bok, S.; Oh, J.-M.; Gwak, S.-H.; Yoo, M. Y.; Lee, M. S.; Chung, S.-J.; Defrêne, J.; Tessier, P.; Pelletier, M.; Jeon, H.; Roh, T.-Y.; Kim, B.; Kim, K. H.; Ju, J. H.; Kim, S.; Lee, Y.-J.; Kim, D.-W.; Kim, I. H.; Kim, H. J.; Park, J.-W.; Lee, Y.-S.; Lee, J. S.; Cheon, G. J.; Weissman, I. L.; Chung, D. H.; Jeon, Y. K.; Ahn,

G.-O. Tumor-Associated Macrophages Enhance Tumor Hypoxia and Aerobic Glycolysis. Cancer Res 2019, canres.2545.2018. <u>https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-18-2545</u>.

- 97. Mazzone, M.; Bergers, G. Regulation of Blood and Lymphatic Vessels by Immune Cells in Tumors and Metastasis. Annu. Rev. Physiol. 2019, 81 (1), 535–560. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-physiol-020518-114721.
- Zhang, J.; Yan, Y.; Yang, Y.; Wang, L.; Li, M.; Wang, J.; Liu, X.; Duan, X.; Wang, J. High Infiltration of Tumor-Associated Macrophages Influences Poor Prognosis in Human Gastric Cancer Patients, Associates With the Phenomenon of EMT. Medicine (Baltimore) 2016, 95 (6), e2636. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/MD.0000000002636</u>.
- 99. Diepenbruck, M.; Christofori, G. Epithelial–Mesenchymal Transition (EMT) and Metastasis: Yes, No, Maybe? Cur-rent Opinion in Cell Biology 2016, 43, 7–13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ceb.2016.06.002.
- 100. Cortés, M.; Sanchez-Moral, L.; Barrios, O. de; Fernández-Aceñero, M. J.; Martínez-Campanario, M. C.; Esteve-Codina, A.; Darling, D. S.; Győrffy, B.; Lawrence, T.; Dean, D. C.; Postigo, A. Tumor-Associated Macrophages (TAMs) Depend on ZEB1 for Their Cancer-Promoting Roles. EMBO J 2017, 36 (22), 3336–3355. https://doi.org/10.15252/embj.201797345
- 101. Castro, B. A.; Flanigan, P.; Jahangiri, A.; Hoffman, D.; Chen, W.; Kuang, R.; De Lay, M.; Yagnik, G.; Wagner, J. R.; Mascharak, S.; Sidorov, M.; Shrivastav, S.; Kohanbash, G.; Okada, H.; Aghi, M. K. Macrophage Migration Inhibitory Factor Downregulation: A Novel Mechanism of Resistance to Anti-Angiogenic Therapy. Oncogene 2017, 36 (26), 3749–3759. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/onc.2017.1</u>
- 102. DeNardo, D. G.; Brennan, D. J.; Rexhepaj, E.; Ruffell, B.; Shiao, S. L.; Madden, S. F.; Gallagher, W. M.; Wadhwani, N.; Keil, S. D.; Junaid, S. A.; Rugo, H. S.; Hwang, E. S.; Jirström, K.; West, B. L.; Coussens, L. M. Leukocyte Complexity Predicts Breast Cancer Survival and Functionally Regulates Response to Chemotherapy. Cancer Discovery 2011, 1 (1), 54–67. <u>https://doi.org/10.1158/2159-8274.CD-10-0028</u>.
- 103. Nakasone, E. S.; Askautrud, H. A.; Kees, T.; Park, J.-H.; Plaks, V.; Ewald, A. J.; Fein, M.; Rasch, M. G.; Tan, Y.-X.; Qiu, J.; Park, J.; Sinha, P.; Bissell, M. J.; Frengen, E.; Werb, Z.; Egeblad, M. Imaging Tumor-Stroma Interactions during Chemotherapy Reveals Contributions of the Microenvironment to Resistance. Cancer Cell 2012, 21 (4), 488–503. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ccr.2012.02.017.
- 104. Salvagno, C.; Ciampricotti, M.; Tuit, S.; Hau, C.-S.; van Weverwijk, A.; Coffelt, S. B.; Kersten, K.; Vrijland, K.; Kos, K.; Ulas, T.; Song, J.-Y.; Ooi, C.-H.; Rüttinger, D.; Cassier, P. A.; Jonkers, J.; Schultze, J. L.; Ries, C. H.; de Visser, K. E. Therapeutic Targeting of Macrophages Enhances Chemotherapy Efficacy by Unleashing Type I Interferon Response. Nat Cell Biol 2019, 21 (4), 511–521. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41556-019-0298-1</u>.
- 105. Houthuijzen, J. M.; Daenen, L. G. M.; Roodhart, J. M. L.; Oosterom, I.; van Jaarsveld, M. T. M.; Govaert, K. M.; Smith, M. E.; Sadatmand, S. J.; Rosing, H.; Kruse, F.; Helms, B. J.; van Rooijen, N.; Beijnen, J. H.; Haribabu, B.; van de Lest, C. H. A.; Voest, E. E. Lysophospholipids Secreted by Splenic Macrophages Induce Chemotherapy Resistance via Interference with the DNA Damage Response. Nat Commun 2014, 5 (1), 5275. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms6275.
- 106. Ruffell, B.; Coussens, L. M. Macrophages and Therapeutic Resistance in Cancer. Cancer Cell 2015, 27 (4), 462–472. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ccell.2015.02.015.
- 107. Shojaei, F.; Wu, X.; Malik, A. K.; Zhong, C.; Baldwin, M. E.; Schanz, S.; Fuh, G.; Gerber, H.-P.; Ferrara, N. Tumor Refractoriness to Anti-VEGF Treatment Is Mediated by CD11b+Gr1+ Myeloid Cells. Nat Biotechnol 2007, 25 (8), 911–920. https://doi.org/10.1038/nbt1323.
- 108. Mazzieri, R.; Pucci, F.; Moi, D.; Zonari, E.; Ranghetti, A.; Berti, A.; Politi, L. S.; Gentner, B.; Brown, J. L.; Naldini, L.; De Palma, M. Targeting the ANG2/TIE2 Axis Inhibits Tumor Growth and Metastasis by Impairing Angiogenesis and Disabling Rebounds of Proangiogenic Myeloid Cells. Cancer Cell 2011, 19 (4), 512–526. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ccr.2011.02.005</u>.
- 109. Dalton, H. J.; Pradeep, S.; McGuire, M.; Hailemichael, Y.; Ma, S.; Lyons, Y.; Armaiz-Pena, G. N.; Previs, R. A.; Hansen, J. M.; Rupaimoole, R.; Gonzalez-Villasana, V.; Cho, M. S.; Wu, S. Y.; Mangala, L. S.; Jennings, N. B.; Hu, W.; Langley, R.; Mu, H.; Andreeff, M.; Bar-Eli, M.; Overwijk, W.; Ram, P.; Lopez-Berestein, G.; Coleman, R. L.; Sood, A. K. Macrophages Facilitate Resistance to Anti-VEGF Therapy by Altered VEGFR Expression. Clin Cancer Res 2017, 23 (22), 7034–7046. <u>https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-17-0647</u>
- 110. Mazzieri, R.; Pucci, F.; Moi, D.; Zonari, E.; Ranghetti, A.; Berti, A.; Politi, L. S.; Gentner, B.; Brown, J. L.; Naldini, L.; De Palma, M. Targeting the ANG2/TIE2 Axis Inhibits Tumor Growth and Metastasis by Impairing Angiogenesis and Disabling Rebounds of Proangiogenic Myeloid Cells. Cancer Cell 2011, 19 (4), 512-526. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ccr.2011.02.005.
- 111. Klug, F.; Prakash, H.; Huber, P. E.; Seibel, T.; Bender, N.; Halama, N.; Pfirschke, C.; Voss, R. H.; Timke, C.; Umansky, L.; Klapproth, K.; Schäkel, K.; Garbi, N.; Jäger, D.; Weitz, J.; Schmitz-Winnenthal, H.; Hämmerling, G. J.; Beckhove, P. Low-Dose Irradiation Programs Macrophage Differentiation to an INOS+/M1 Phenotype That Orchestrates Effective T Cell Immunotherapy. Cancer Cell 2013, 24 (5), 589–602. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ccr.2013.09.014.
- 112. Canè, S.; Ugel, S.; Trovato, R.; Marigo, I.; De Sanctis, F.; Sartoris, S.; Bronte, V. The Endless Saga of Monocyte Diversity. Front. Immunol. 2019, 10, 1786. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2019.01786</u>.
- 113. Argyle, D.; Kitamura, T. Targeting Macrophage-Recruiting Chemokines as a Novel Therapeutic Strategy to Prevent the Progression of Solid Tumors. Front. Immunol. 2018, 9, 2629. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2018.02629</u>.
- 114. Owen, R.G.; Treon, S.P.; Al-Katib, A.; Fonseca, R.; Greipp, P.R.; McMaster, M.L.; Morra, E.; Pangalis, G.A.; San Miguel, J.F.; Branagan, A.R.; et al. Clinicopathological definition of Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia: Consensus Panel Recommendations from the Second International Workshop on Waldenstrom's Macroglobulinemia. *Semin. Oncol.* 2003, *30*, 110–115. https://doi.org/10.1053/sonc.2003.50082.
- 115. Ansell, S.M.; Kyle, R.A.; Reeder, C.B.; Fonseca, R.; Mikhael, J.R.; Morice, W.G.; Bergsagel, P.L.; Buadi, F.K.; Colgan, J.P.; Dingli, D.; et al. Diagnosis and Management of Waldenström Macroglobulinemia: Mayo Stratification of Macroglobulinemia and Risk-Adapted Therapy (mSMART) Guidelines. *Mayo Clin. Proc.* 2010, 85, 824–833. https://doi.org/10.4065/mcp.2010.0304.
- 116. Treon, S.P.; Tripsas, C.K.; Meid, K.; Warren, D.; Varma, G.; Green, R.; Argyropoulos, K.V.; Yang, G.; Cao, Y.; Xu, L.; et al. Ibrutinib in Previously Treated Waldenström's Macroglobulinemia. N. Engl. J. Med. 2015, 372, 1430–1440. https://doi.org/10.1056/nejmoa1501548.
- 117. Buske, C.; Leblond, V. How to manage Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. *Leukemia* **2013**, 27, 762–772. https://doi.org/10.1038/leu.2013.36.
- 118. Swerdlow, S.H.; Campo, E.; Pileri, S.A.; Harris, N.L.; Stein, H.; Siebert, R.; Advani, R.; Ghielmini, M.; Salles, G.A.; Zelenetz, A.D.; et al. The 2016 revision of the World Health Organization classification of lymphoid neoplasms. *Blood* **2016**, *127*, 2375–2390. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2016-01-643569.
- 119. Ocio, E.M.; Schop, R.F.J.; González, B.; Van Wier, S.A.; Hernández-Rivas, J.M.; Gutiérrez, N.C.; Garcia-Sanz, R.; Moro, M.J.; Aguilera, C.; Hernandez, J.; et al. 6q deletion in

Waldenström macroglobulinemia is associated with features of adverse prognosis. *Br. J. Haematol.* **2006**, *136*, 80–86. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2141.2006.06389.x.

- 120. Kapoor, P.; Ansell, S.M.; Fonseca, R.; Chanan-Khan, A.; Kyle, R.A.; Kumar, S.K.; Mikhael, J.R.; Witzig, T.E.; Mauermann, M.; Dispenzieri, A.; et al. Diagnosis and Management of Waldenström Macroglobulinemia. *JAMA Oncol.* 2017, *3*, 1257–1265. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamaoncol.2016.5763.
- 121. Liu, J.; Zhong, J.F.; Zhang, X.; Zhang, C. Allogeneic CD19-CAR-T cell infusion after allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation in B cell malignancies. *J. Hematol. Oncol.* 2017, 10, 35. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13045-017-0405-3.
- 122. A Dimopoulos, M.; Trotman, J.; Tedeschi, A.; Matous, J.V.; Macdonald, D.; Tam, C.; Tournilhac, O.; Ma, S.; Oriol, A.; Heffner, L.T.; et al. Ibrutinib for patients with rituximabrefractory Waldenström's macroglobulinaemia (iNNOVATE): an open-label substudy of an international, multicentre, phase 3 trial. *Lancet Oncol.* 2016, *18*, 241–250. https://doi.org/10.1016/s1470-2045(16)30632-5.
- 123. Poulain, S.; Braggio, E.; Roumier, C.; Aijjou, R.; Broucqsault, N.; Galiègue-Zouitina, S.; Manier, S.; Soenen, V.; Nibourel, O.; Duthilleul, P.; et al. High-Throughput Genomic Analysis in Waldenström's Macroglobulinemia. *Clin. Lymphoma Myeloma Leuk.* 2011, 11, 106–108. https://doi.org/10.3816/clml.2011.n.021.
- 124. Nguyen-Khac, F.; Lambert, J.; Chapiro, E.; Grelier, A.; Mould, S.; Barin, C.; Daudignon, A.; Gachard, N.; Struski, S.; Henry, C.; et al. Chromosomal aberrations and their prognostic value in a series of 174 untreated patients with Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia. *Haematologica* 2012, 98, 649–654. https://doi.org/10.3324/haematol.2012.070458.
- 125. Roccaro, A.M.; Sacco, A.; Chen, C.; Runnels, J.; Leleu, X.; Azab, F.; Azab, A.K.; Jia, X.; Ngo, H.T.; Melhem, M.R.; et al. microRNA expression in the biology, prognosis, and therapy of Waldenström macroglobulinemia. *Blood* 2009, *113*, 4391–4402. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2008-09-178228.
- 126. Boutilier, A.; Elsawa, S. Macrophage Polarization States in the Tumor Microenvironment. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* **2021**, 22, 6995. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms22136995.
- 127. Tournilhac, O.; Santos, D.D.; Xu, L.; Kutok, J.; Tai, Y.-T.; Le Gouill, S.; Catley, L.; Hunter, Z.; Branagan, A.R.; Boyce, J.A.; et al. Mast cells in Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia support lymphoplasmacytic cell growth through CD154/CD40 signaling. Ann. Oncol. 2006, 17, 1275–1282. https://doi.org/10.1093/annonc/mdl109.
- 128. Jalali, S.; Price-Troska, T.; Paludo, J.; Villasboas, J.; Kim, H.-J.; Yang, Z.-Z.; Novak, A.J.; Ansell, S.M. Soluble PD-1 ligands regulate T-cell function in Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia. *Blood Adv.* **2018**, 2, 1985–1997. https://doi.org/10.1182/bloodadvances.2018021113.
- 129. Agarwal, A.; Ghobrial, I.M. The Bone Marrow Microenvironment in Waldenström Macroglobulinemia. *Clin. Lymphoma Myeloma Leuk.* **2013**, *13*, 218–221. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clml.2013.02.006.
- 130. Leblebjian, H.; Agarwal, A.; Ghobrial, I. Novel Treatment Options for Waldenström Macroglobulinemia. *Clin. Lymphoma Myeloma Leuk.* **2013**, *13*, S310–S316. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clml.2013.05.023.
- 131. Azab, F.; Azab, A.K.; Maiso, P.; Calimeri, T.; Flores, L.; Liu, Y.; Quang, P.; Roccaro, A.M.; Sacco, A.; Ngo, H.T.; et al. Eph-B2/Ephrin-B2 Interaction Plays a Major Role in the Adhesion and Proliferation of Waldenstrom's Macroglobulinemia. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 2012, *18*, 91–104. https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.ccr-11-0111.
- 132. Hodge, L.S.; Ziesmer, S.C.; Yang, Z.Z.; Secreto, F.J.; Gertz, M.A.; Novak, A.J.; Ansell, S.M. IL-21 in the bone marrow microenvironment contributes to IgM secretion and proliferation of

malignant cells in Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia. *Blood* **2012**, *120*, 3774–3782. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2012-03-419440.

- 133. Sonvilla, G.; Allerstorfer, S.; Heinzle, C.; Stättner, S.; Karner, J.; Klimpfinger, M.; Wrba, F.; Fischer, H.; Gauglhofer, C.; Spiegl-Kreinecker, S.; et al. Fibroblast growth factor receptor 3-IIIc mediates colorectal cancer growth and migration. *Br. J. Cancer* **2010**, *102*, 1145–1156. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.bjc.6605596.
- 134. Miyake, M.; Sugano, K.; Sugino, H.; Imai, K.; Matsumoto, E.; Maeda, K.; Fukuzono, S.; Ichikawa, H.; Kawashima, K.; Hirabayashi, K.; et al. Fibroblast growth factor receptor 3 mutation in voided urine is a useful diagnostic marker and significant indicator of tumor recurrence in non-muscle invasive bladder cancer. *Cancer Sci.* 2009, 101, 250–258. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1349-7006.2009.01334.x.
- 135. Henson, B.; Gollin, S. Overexpression of KLF13 and FGFR3 in Oral Cancer Cells. Cytogenet. *Genome Res.* **2010**, *128*, 192–198. https://doi.org/10.1159/000308303.
- 136. van Rhijn, B.W.; Mertens, L.S.; Mayr, R.; Bostrom, P.J.; Real, F.X.; Zwarthoff, E.C.; Boormans, J.L.; Abas, C.; van Leenders, G.J.; Götz, S.; et al. FGFR3 Mutation Status and FGFR3 Expression in a Large Bladder Cancer Cohort Treated by Radical Cystectomy: Implications for Anti-FGFR3 Treatment? *Eur. Urol.* **2020**, *78*, 682–687. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eururo.2020.07.002.
- 137. Bersani, C.; Haeggblom, L.; Ursu, R.G.; Giusca, S.E.; Marklund, L.; Ramqvist, T.; Näsman, A.; Dalianis, T. Overexpression of FGFR3 in HPV-positive Tonsillar and Base of Tongue Cancer Is Correlated to Outcome. *Anticancer Res.* 2018, 38, 4683–4690. https://doi.org/10.21873/anticanres.12774.
- 138. Long, X.; Shi, Y.; Ye, P.; Guo, J.; Zhou, Q.; Tang, Y. MicroRNA-99a Suppresses Breast Cancer Progression by Targeting FGFR3. *Front. Oncol.* **2020**, *9*, 1473. https://doi.org/10.3389/fonc.2019.01473.
- 139. Azab, A.K.; Azab, F.; Quang, P.; Maiso, P.; Sacco, A.; Ngo, H.T.; Liu, Y.; Zhang, Y.; Morgan, B.L.; Roccaro, A.M.; et al. FGFR3 Is Overexpressed Waldenström Macroglobulinemia and Its Inhibition by Dovitinib Induces Apoptosis and Overcomes Stroma-Induced Proliferation. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 2011, *17*, 4389–4399. https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.ccr-10-2772.
- 140. O'Donnell, J.S.; Massi, D.; Teng, M.W.; Mandala, M. PI3K-AKT-mTOR inhibition in cancer immunotherapy, redux. *Semin. Cancer Biol.* 2018, 48, 91–103. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.semcancer.2017.04.015.
- 141. Alzahrani, A.S. PI3K/Akt/mTOR inhibitors in cancer: At the bench and bedside. *Semin. Cancer Biol.* **2019**, *59*, 125–132. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.semcancer.2019.07.009.
- 142. Vanhaesebroeck, B.; Stephens, L.; Hawkins, P. PI3K signalling: the path to discovery and understanding. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* **2012**, *13*, 195–203. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm3290.
- 143. Si, X.; Xu, F.; Xu, F.; Wei, M.; Ge, Y.; Chenge, S. CADM1 inhibits ovarian cancer cell proliferation and migration by potentially regulating the PI3K/Akt/mTOR pathway. *Biomed. Pharmacother.* **2019**, *123*, 109717. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopha.2019.109717.
- 144. Roccaro, A.M.; Sacco, A.; Husu, E.N.; Pitsillides, C.; Vesole, S.; Azab, A.K.; Azab, F.; Melhem, M.; Ngo, H.T.; Quang, P.; et al. Dual targeting of the PI3K/Akt/mTOR pathway as an antitumor strategy in Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia. *Blood* **2010**, *115*, 559–569. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2009-07-235747.
- 145. Trotman, L.C.; Niki, M.; A Dotan, Z.; A Koutcher, J.; Di Cristofano, A.; Xiao, A.; Khoo, A.S.; Roy-Burman, P.; Greenberg, N.M.; Van Dyke, T.; et al. Pten Dose Dictates Cancer Progression in the Prostate. *PLoS Biol.* 2003, *1*, e59. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.0000059.

- 146. Alimonti, A.; Carracedo, A.; Clohessy, J.; Trotman, L.C.; Nardella, C.; Egia, A.; Salmena, L.; Sampieri, K.; Haveman, W.J.; Brogi, E.; et al. Subtle variations in Pten dose determine cancer susceptibility. *Nat. Genet.* **2010**, *42*, 454–458. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng.556.
- 147. Hashwah, H.; Bertram, K.; Stirm, K.; Stelling, A.; Wu, C.; Kasser, S.; Manz, M.; Theocharides, A.; Tzankov, A.; Müller, A. The IL -6 signaling complex is a critical driver, negative prognostic factor, and therapeutic target in diffuse large B-cell lymphoma. *EMBO Mol. Med.* **2019**, *11*, e10576. https://doi.org/10.15252/emmm.201910576.
- 148. Gholiha, A.R.; Hollander, P.; Glimelius, I.; Hedstrom, G.; Molin, D.; Hjalgrim, H.; Smedby, K.E.; Hashemi, J.; Amini, R.-M.; Enblad, G. Revisiting IL-6 expression in the tumor microenvironment of classical Hodgkin lymphoma. *Blood Adv.* **2021**, *5*, 1671–1681. https://doi.org/10.1182/bloodadvances.2020003664.
- 149. Mishra, A.; Dingli, D. Metformin inhibits IL-6 signaling by decreasing IL-6R expression on multiple myeloma cells. *Leukemia* 2019, *33*, 2695–2709. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41375-019-0470-4.
- 150. Elsawa, S.F.; Ansell, S.M. Cytokines in the Microenvironment of Waldenström's Macroglobulinemia. *Clin. Lymphoma Myeloma* **2009**, *9*, 43–45. https://doi.org/10.3816/clm.2009.n.010.
- 151. Elsawa, S.; Almada, L.L.; Ziesmer, S.C.; Novak, A.J.; Witzig, T.E.; Ansell, S.M.; Fernandez-Zapico, M.E. GLI2 Transcription Factor Mediates Cytokine Cross-talk in the Tumor Microenvironment. *J. Biol. Chem.* 2011, 286, 21524–21534. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.m111.234146.
- 152. Ansell, S.M.; Grote, D.; Elsawa, S.F.; Gupta, M.; Ziesmer, S.C.; Novak, A.J.; E Witzig, T. Inhibition of the Jak/Stat Pathway Downregulates Immunoglobulin Production and Induces Cell Death in Waldenström Macroglobulinemia. *Blood* **2009**, *114*, 1691–1691. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood.v114.22.1691.1691.
- 153. Han, W.; Matissek, S.J.; Jackson, D.A.; Sklavanitis, B.; Elsawa, S.F. Targeting IL-6 receptor reduces IgM levels and tumor growth in Waldenström macroglobulinemia. *Oncotarget* **2019**, *10*, 3400–3407. https://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.26946.
- 154. Ngo, H.T.; Azab, A.K.; Farag, M.; Jia, X.; Melhem, M.M.; Runnels, J.; Roccaro, A.M.; Azab, F.; Sacco, A.; Leleu, X.; et al. Src Tyrosine Kinase Regulates Adhesion and Chemotaxis in Waldenstrom Macroglobulinemia. *Clin. Cancer Res.* **2009**, *15*, 6035–6041. https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.ccr-09-0718.
- 155. Leleu, X.; Eeckhoute, J.; Jia, X.; Roccaro, A.M.; Moreau, A.-S.; Farag, M.; Sacco, A.; Ngo, H.T.; Runnels, J.; Melhem, M.R.; et al. Targeting NF-κB in Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia. *Blood* **2008**, *111*, 5068–5077. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2007-09-115170.
- 156. Boutilier, A. J.; Huang, L.; Elsawa, S. F. Waldenström Macroglobulinemia: Mechanisms of Disease Progression and Current Therapies. *IJMS* **2022**, *23* (19), 11145. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms231911145</u>.
- 157. Elsawa, S.F.; Novak, A.J.; Grote, D.M.; Ziesmer, S.C.; Witzig, T.E.; Kyle, R.A.; Dillon, S.R.; Harder, B.; Gross, J.A.; Ansell, S.M. B-lymphocyte stimulator (BLyS) stimulates immunoglobulin production and malignant B-cell growth in Waldenström macroglobulinemia. *Blood* 2006, 107, 2882–2888. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2005-09-3552.
- 158. Ghobrial, I.M.; Roccaro, A.; Hong, F.; Weller, E.; Rubin, N.; Leduc, R.; Rourke, M.; Chuma, S.; Sacco, A.; Jia, X.; et al. Clinical and Translational Studies of a Phase II Trial of the Novel Oral Akt Inhibitor Perifosine in Relapsed or Relapsed/Refractory Waldenström's Macroglobulinemia. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 2010, *16*, 1033–1041. https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.ccr-09-1837.

- 159. Han, W.; Jackson, D.; Matissek, S.J.; Misurelli, J.A.; Neil, M.S.; Sklavanitis, B.; Amarsaikhan, N.; Elsawa, S.F. Novel Molecular Mechanism of Regulation of CD40 Ligand by the Transcription Factor GLI2. *J. Immunol.* **2017**, *198*, 4481–4489. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.1601490.
- 160. Yang, G.; Zhou, Y.; Liu, X.; Xu, L.; Cao, Y.; Manning, R.J.; Patterson, C.J.; Buhrlage, S.J.; Gray, N.; Tai, Y.-T.; et al. A mutation in MYD88 (L265P) supports the survival of lymphoplasmacytic cells by activation of Bruton tyrosine kinase in Waldenström macroglobulinemia. *Blood* 2013, *122*, 1222–1232. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2012-12-475111.
- 161. Treon, S.P.; Xu, L.; Yang, G.; Zhou, Y.; Liu, X.; Cao, Y.; Sheehy, P.; Manning, R.J.; Patterson, C.J.; Tripsas, C.; et al. MYD88 L265P Somatic Mutation in Waldenström's Macroglobulinemia. N. Engl. J. Med. 2012, 367, 826–833, doi:10.1056/nejmoa1200710.
- 162. Xu, L.; Hunter, Z.; Yang, G.; Zhou, Y.; Cao, Y.; Liu, X.; Morra, E.; Trojani, A.; Greco, A.; Arcaini, L.; et al. MYD88 L265P in Waldenström macroglobulinemia, immunoglobulin M monoclonal gammopathy, and other B-cell lymphoproliferative disorders using conventional and quantitative allele-specific polymerase chain reaction. *Blood* 2013, *121*, 2051–2058. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2012-09-454355.
- 163. Gachard, N.; Parrens, M.; Soubeyran, P.-L.; Petit, B.; Marfak, A.; Rizzo, D.; Devesa, M.; Delage-Corre, M.; Coste, V.; Laforêt, M.P.; et al. IGHV gene features and MYD88 L265P mutation separate the three marginal zone lymphoma entities and Waldenström macroglobulinemia/lymphoplasmacytic lymphomas. *Leukemia* 2012, 27, 183–189. https://doi.org/10.1038/leu.2012.257.
- 164. Pasqualucci, L.; Trifonov, V.; Fabbri, G.; Ma, J.; Rossi, D.; Chiarenza, A.; A Wells, V.; Grunn, A.; Messina, M.; Elliot, O.; et al. Analysis of the coding genome of diffuse large Bcell lymphoma. *Nat. Genet.* 2011, 43, 830–837. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng.892.
- 165. Nagao, T.; Oshikawa, G.; Ishida, S.; Akiyama, H.; Umezawa, Y.; Nogami, A.; Kurosu, T.; Miura, O. A novel MYD88 mutation, L265RPP, in Waldenström macroglobulinemia activates the NF-κB pathway to upregulate Bcl-xL expression and enhances cell survival. *Blood Cancer* J. 2015, 5, e314–e314. https://doi.org/10.1038/bcj.2015.36.
- 166. Rizov, M.; Andreeva, P.; Dimova, I. Molecular regulation and role of angiogenesis in reproduction. Taiwan. J. Obstet. Gynecol. 2017, 56, 127–132. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tjog.2016.06.019.
- 167. Augustine, R.; Prasad, P.; Khalaf, I.M.N. Therapeutic angiogenesis: From conventional approaches to recent nanotechnology-based interventions. *Mater. Sci. Eng. C* **2019**, *97*, 994–1008. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.msec.2019.01.006.
- 168. Zimta, A.-A.; Baru, O.; Badea, M.; Buduru, S.D.; Berindan-Neagoe, I. The Role of Angiogenesis and Pro-Angiogenic Exosomes in Regenerative Dentistry. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* **2019**, *20*, 406. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms20020406.
- 169. Lapeyre-Prost, A.; Terme, M.; Pernot, S.; Pointet, A.-L.; Voron, T.; Tartour, E.; Taieb, J. Immunomodulatory Activity of VEGF in Cancer. *Int. Rev.* Cell *Mol. Biol.* 2017, 330, 295– 342. https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.ircmb.2016.09.007.
- 170. Guerra, A.; Belinha, J.; Jorge, R.N. Modelling skin wound healing angiogenesis: A review. J. *Theor. Biol.* **2018**, 459, 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtbi.2018.09.020.
- 171. Quintero-Fabián, S.; Arreola, R.; Becerril-Villanueva, E.; Torres-Romero, J.C.; Arana-Argáez, V.; Lara-Riegos, J.; Ramírez-Camacho, M.A.; Alvarez-Sánchez, M.E. Role of Matrix Metalloproteinases in Angiogenesis and Cancer. *Front. Oncol.* **2019**, *9*, 1370, doi:10.3389/fonc.2019.01370.
- 172. Dalal, B.; Quinn, T.J.; Foster, L.; Lin, M.; Matthews, M.; Yuhan, B. Ligand-directed tumor targeting with hybrid viral phage nanoparticles. In *Drug Targeting and Stimuli Sensitive Drug*

*Delivery Systems;* William Andrew Publishing: Norwich, NY, USA, 2018; pp. 483–516. https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-12-813689-8.00013-6.

- 173. Aguilar-Cazares, D.; Chavez-Dominguez, R.; Carlos-Reyes, A.; Lopez-Camarillo, C.; de la Cruz, O.N.H.; Lopez-Gonzalez, J.S. Contribution of Angiogenesis to Inflammation and Cancer. *Front. Oncol.* **2019**, *9*, 1399. https://doi.org/10.3389/fonc.2019.01399.
- 174. Zuazo-Gaztelu, I.; Casanovas, O. Unraveling the Role of Angiogenesis in Cancer Ecosystems. *Front. Oncol.* **2018**, *8*, 248. https://doi.org/10.3389/fonc.2018.00248.
- 175. Yu, X.; Ye, F. Role of Angiopoietins in Development of Cancer and Neoplasia Associated with Viral Infection. *Cells* **2020**, *9*, 457. https://doi.org/10.3390/cells9020457.
- 176. Wang, J.; Li, L.; Jiang, M.; Li, Y. MicroRNA-195 inhibits human gastric cancer by directly targeting basic fibroblast growth factor. Clin. *Transl. Oncol.* **2017**, *19*, 1320–1328. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12094-017-1668-4.
- 177. Terpos, E.; Tasidou, A.; Kastritis, E.; Eleftherakis-Papaiakovou, E.; Gavriatopoulou, M.; Migkou, M.; Dimopoulos, M.-A. Angiogenesis in Waldenström's Macroglobulinemia. *Clin. Lymphoma Myeloma* **2009**, *9*, 46–49. https://doi.org/10.3816/clm.2009.n.011.
- 178. Anagnostopoulos, A.; Zervas, K.; Kastritis, E.; Tsionos, K.; Bamias, A.; Meletis, J.; Dimopoulos, M.; Terpos, E.; Eleftherakis-Papaiakovou, V. Serum concentrations of angiogenic cytokines in Waldenstrom macroglobulinaemia: the ratio of angiopoietin-1 to angiopoietin-2 and angiogenin correlate with disease severity. *Br. J. Haematol.* 2007, *137*, 560–568. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2141.2007.06609.x.
- 179. Storti, P.; Bolzoni, M.; Donofrio, G.; Airoldi, I.; Guasco, D.; Toscani, D.; Martella, E.; Lazzaretti, M.; Mancini, C.; Agnelli, L.; et al. Hypoxia-inducible factor (HIF)-1α suppression in myeloma cells blocks tumoral growth in vivo inhibiting angiogenesis and bone destruction. *Leukemia* **2013**, *27*, 1697–1706. https://doi.org/10.1038/leu.2013.24.
- 180. Zhang, J.; Sattler, M.; Tonon, G.; Grabher, C.; Lababidi, S.; Zimmerhackl, A.; Raab, M.S.; Vallet, S.; Zhou, Y.; Cartron, M.-A.; et al. Targeting Angiogenesis via a c-Myc/Hypoxia-Inducible Factor-1α–Dependent Pathway in Multiple Myeloma. *Cancer Res.* 2009, 69, 5082– 5090. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.can-08-4603.
- 181. Muz, B.; de la Puente, P.; Azab, F.; Ghobrial, I.M.; Azab, A.K. Hypoxia Promotes Dissemination and Colonization in New Bone Marrow Niches in Waldenström Macroglobulinemia. *Mol. Cancer Res.* 2015, 13, 263–272. https://doi.org/10.1158/1541-7786.mcr-14-0150.
- 182. Azab, A.K.; Hu, J.; Quang, P.; Azab, F.; Pitsillides, C.; Awwad, R.; Thompson, B.; Maiso, P.; Sun, J.D.; Hart, C.P.; et al. Hypoxia promotes dissemination of multiple myeloma through acquisition of epithelial to mesenchymal transition-like features. *Blood* **2012**, *119*, 5782– 5794. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2011-09-380410.
- 183. Diepenbruck, M.; Christofori, G. Epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT) and metastasis: yes, no, maybe? *Curr. Opin. Cell Biol.* **2016**, *43*, 7–13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ceb.2016.06.002.
- 184. Pasquale, E.B. Eph-Ephrin Bidirectional Signaling in Physiology and Disease. *Cell* **2008**, *133*, 38–52. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2008.03.011.
- 185. Lodola, A.; Giorgio, C.; Incerti, M.; Zanotti, I.; Tognolini, M. Targeting Eph/ephrin system in cancer therapy. *Eur. J. Med. Chem.* **2017**, *142*, 152–162. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejmech.2017.07.029.
- 186. Niethamer, T.K.; Bush, J.O. Getting direction(s): The Eph/ephrin signaling system in cell positioning. *Dev. Biol.* **2019**, *447*, 42–57. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ydbio.2018.01.012.
- 187. Wada, H.; Yamamoto, H.; Kim, C.; Uemura, M.; Akita, H.; Tomimaru, Y.; Hama, N.; Kawamoto, K.; Kobayashi, S.; Eguchi, H.; et al. Association between ephrin-A1 mRNA

expression and poor prognosis after hepatectomy to treat hepatocellular carcinoma. *Int. J. Oncol.* **2014**, *45*, 1051–1058. https://doi.org/10.3892/ijo.2014.2519.

- 188. Yamamoto, H.; Tei, M.; Uemura, M.; Takemasa, I.; Uemura, Y.; Murata, K.; Fukunaga, M.; Ohue, M.; Ohnishi, T.; Ikeda, K.; et al. Ephrin-A1 mRNA is associated with poor prognosis of colorectal cancer. *Int. J. Oncol.* 2012, *42*, 549–555. https://doi.org/10.3892/ijo.2012.1750.
- 189. Simon, L.; Fitsiori, A.; Lemal, R.; Dupuis, J.; Carpentier, B.; Boudin, L.; Corby, A.; Aurran-Schleinitz, T.; Gastaud, L.; Talbot, A.; et al. Bing-Neel syndrome, a rare complication of Waldenstrom macroglobulinemia: analysis of 44 cases and review of the literature. A study on behalf of the French Innovative Leukemia Organization (FILO). *Haematologica* 2015, 100, 1587–1594. https://doi.org/10.3324/haematol.2015.133744.
- 190. Castillo, J.J.; Treon, S.P. How we manage Bing–Neel syndrome. *Br. J. Haematol.* **2019**, *187*, 277–285. https://doi.org/10.1111/bjh.16167.
- 191. Ishikawa, M.; Miyahara, R.; Sonobe, M.; Horiuchi, M.; Mennju, T.; Nakayama, E.; Kobayashi, M.; Kikuchi, R.; Kitamura, J.; Imamura, N.; et al. Higher expression of EphA2 and ephrin-A1 is related to favorable clinicopathological features in pathological stage I non-small cell lung carcinoma. *Lung Cancer* **2012**, *76*, 431–438. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lungcan.2011.12.004.
- 192. A Raedler, L. Imbruvica (Ibrutinib): First Drug Approved for the Treatment of Patients with Waldenström's Macroglobulinemia. *Am. Healthy. Drug Benefits* **2016**, *9*, 89–92.
- 193. Vijay, A.; Gertz, M.A. Waldenström macroglobulinemia. *Blood* **2007**, *109*, 5096–5103. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2006-11-055012.
- 194. Matissek, S. J.; Elsawa, S. F. GLI3: A Mediator of Genetic Diseases, Development and Cancer. *Cell Commun Signal* **2020**, *18* (1), 54. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12964-020-00540-x</u>.
- 195. Elsawa, S. F.; Novak, A. J.; Grote, D. M.; Zeismer, S. C.; Witzig, T. E.; Kyle, R. A.; Ansell, S. M. Role of B-Lymphocyte Stimulator (BLyS) in Waldenstrom's Macroglobulinemia. *Blood* 2005, *106* (11), 601–601. <u>https://doi.org/10.1182/blood.V106.11.601.601</u>.
- 196. Toda, G.; Yamauchi, T.; Kadowaki, T.; Ueki, K. Preparation and Culture of Bone Marrow-Derived Macrophages from Mice for Functional Analysis. *STAR Protocols* **2021**, *2* (1), 100246. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.xpro.2020.100246</u>.
- 197. Matissek, S. J.; Karbalivand, M.; Han, W.; Boutilier, A.; Yzar-Garcia, E.; Kehoe, L. L.; Gardner, D. S.; Hage, A.; Fleck, K.; Jeffers, V.; Rajsbaum, R.; Elsawa, S. F. A Novel Mechanism of Regulation of the Oncogenic Transcription Factor GLI3 by Toll-like Receptor Signaling. *Oncotarget* 2022, *13* (1), 944–959. <u>https://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.28261</u>.
- 198. Hanna, A.; Metge, B. J.; Bailey, S. K.; Chen, D.; Chandrashekar, D. S.; Varambally, S.; Samant, R. S.; Shevde, L. A. Inhibition of Hedgehog Signaling Reprograms the Dysfunctional Immune Microenvironment in Breast Cancer. *OncoImmunology* **2019**, *8* (3), 1548241. https://doi.org/10.1080/2162402X.2018.1548241.
- 199. Scales, M. K.; Velez-Delgado, A.; Steele, N. G.; Schrader, H. E.; Stabnick, A. M.; Yan, W.; Mercado Soto, N. M.; Nwosu, Z. C.; Johnson, C.; Zhang, Y.; Salas-Escabillas, D. J.; Menjivar, R. E.; Maurer, H. C.; Crawford, H. C.; Bednar, F.; Olive, K. P.; Pasca di Magliano, M.; Allen, B. L. Combinatorial Gli Activity Directs Immune Infiltration and Tumor Growth in Pancreatic Cancer. *PLoS Genet* **2022**, *18* (7), e1010315. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgen.1010315.
- 200. Keating, G.M. Rituximab: A Review of Its Use in Chronic Lymphocytic Leukaemia, Low-Grade or Follicular Lymphoma and Diffuse Large B-Cell Lymphoma. *Drugs* **2010**, *70*, 1445–1476. https://doi.org/10.2165/11201110-000000000-00000.
- 201. Trotman, J.; Opat, S.; Gottlieb, D.; Simpson, D.; Marlton, P.; Cull, G.; Munoz, J.; Tedeschi, A.; Roberts, A.W.; Seymour, J.F.; et al. Zanubrutinib for the treatment of patients with Waldenström macroglobulinemia: 3 years of follow-up. *Blood* 2020, *136*, 2027–2037. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood.2020006449.

- 202. Ping, L.; Ding, N.; Shi, Y.; Feng, L.; Li, J.; Liu, Y.; Lin, Y.; Shi, C.; Wang, X.; Pan, Z.; Song, Y.; Zhu, J. The Bruton's Tyrosine Kinase Inhibitor Ibrutinib Exerts Immunomodulatory Effects through Regulation of Tumor-Infiltrating Macrophages. *Oncotarget* 2017, 8 (24), 39218–39229. <u>https://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.16836</u>.
- 203. Li, X.; Wei, Y.; Li, S.; Liang, J.; Liu, Z.; Cui, Y.; Gao, J.; Yang, Z.; Li, L.; Zhou, H.; Chen, S.; Yang, C. Zanubrutinib Ameliorates Lipopolysaccharide-Induced Acute Lung Injury via Regulating Macrophage Polarization. *International Immunopharmacology* **2022**, *111*, 109138. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.intimp.2022.109138</u>.